Potential bioremediation role of manglicolous fungi associated with the mangrove tree, *Rhizophora mangle*, in Puerto Rico Submitted by

Emily C. Kelly Castro

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

MASTER IN SCIENCE

IN

BIOLOGY

UNIVERSITY OF PUERTO RICO MAYAGÜEZ CAMPUS 2016

Approved by:

Interim Chair of Biology

Matías J. Cafaro, Ph.D.	Date
President, Graduate Committee	
Carlos Ríos-Velázquez, Ph.D.	Date
Member, Graduate Committee	
Sandra L. Maldonado Ramírez, Ph.D.	Date
Member, Graduate Committee	
Lillian Ramírez Durand, M.S.	Date
Representative of Graduate Studies	
Matías I. Cafaro. Ph.D.	Date

Potential bioremediation role of manglicolous fungi associated with the mangrove tree, *Rhizophora mangle*, in Puerto Rico

ABSTRACT

Mangroves are tropical ecosystems that are constantly exposed to unknown amounts of different pollutants from motorboats such as gasoline or diesel. They harbor a group of fungi called "manglicolous fungi", able to synthesize all the necessary enzymes to degrade lignin. Lignolytic fungi produce extracellular enzymes with very low substrate specificity, being fit for degradation of different compounds. Several lignolytic fungi are known to degrade PAHs due to the irregular structure of lignin. Since lignolytic enzymes have low substrate specificity, compounds with similar structure to lignin might induce the production of such enzymes. The main objective of this study was to establish the cability of some fungal isolates from Rhizophora mangrove wood to use other carbon and energy sources, especially xenobiotics such as Congo Red or naphthalene through the lignin degradation pathway. For this study two sampling areas were selected: Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo and La Parguera, Lajas. A total of 20 fungi were isolated. Three isolates from each site were picked for experiments using Congo Red and naphthalene as their only carbon and energy source. Samples Penicillium citrinum (RmBS 2-1-2) and Aspergillus caelatus (IRmPL 5) showed a better ability of using Congo Red, while Fusarium solani (RmBS 3) and Purpureocillium lilacinum (RmPL 5-1e-2) showed a better ability of using naphthalene. These the three isolates were tested for laccase, Mn peroxidase and Li peroxidase activity in the supernatant. All of the isolates showed activity when grown in basal media with Congo Red or naphthalene. This study supports the hypothesis of fungal isolates from Rhizophora mangle wood using Congo Red and naphthalene as carbon and energy source other than lignin.

Potential bioremediation role of manglicolous fungi associated with the mangrove tree, *Rhizophora mangle*, in Puerto Rico

RESUMEN

Los mangles son ecosistemas tropicales que están constantemente expuestos a cantidades desconocidas de distintos contaminantes de botes de motor como lo son la gasolina o el diésel. Albergan un grupo de hongos llamados "hongos manglicolos", capaces de sintetizar las enzimas necesarias para degradar lignina. Los hongos lignolíticos producen enzimas extracelulares con baja especificidad de sustrato, adecuados para la degradación de diferentes compuestos. Varios hongos lignolíticos se conocen por ser capaces de degradar hidrocarburos policíclicos aromáticos debido a la estructura irregular de la lignina. Debido a que las enzimas lignolíticas tienen baja especificidad los compuestos con estructuras similares a la de lignina podrían inducir la producción de esas enzimas. El objetivo principal de este estudio era establecer la habilidad de algunos hongos aislados de la madera del mangle rojo, *Rhizophora mangle*, de utilizar otra fuente de carbono y energía, en especial xenobióticos como el colorante Congo Red o naftaleno por medio del mecanismo de degradación de lignina. Para este estudio dos áreas de muestreo fueron seleccionados: Bahía Salinas en Cabo Rojo y La Parguera en Lajas. Un total de 20 hongos fueron aislados. De cada área de muestreo se seleccionaron 3 muestras para experimentos usando Congo Red y naftaleno como su única fuente de carbón y energía. Las muestras Penicillium citrinum (RmBS 2-1-2) y Aspergillus caelatus (IRmPL 5) mostraron mejor habilidad de utilizar el Congo Red, mientras que Fusarium solani (RmBS 3) y Purpureocillium lilacinum (RmPL 5-1e-2) mostraron mejor habilidad de utilizar el naftaleno. A los cuatro hongos se les realizó una prueba de actividad enzimática para las enzimas lacasa, manganeso peroxidasa y lignina peroxidasa. Los cuatro hongos mostraron actividad enzimática. Este estudio apoya la hipótesis sobre los hongos aislados de la madera del mangle rojo, *Rhizophora mangle*, y su capacidad de utilizar Congo Red o naftaleno como fuentes alternas de carbono y energía a la lignina.

© Emily C. Kelly Castro 2016

I dedicate this work to the ones that believed in me and witness all this process. To my love ones, my mother Emilia Castro and my father Carlos Kelly for guiding me. As well to Carlos J. Bernal, my love, for always believing in me and giving me the strength and motivation to complete this journey.

ACKNOWLEGDEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my advisor, Matías J. Cafaro, for giving me the opportunity to complete my Master's degree in his laboratory. I feel very grateful for his guidance and patience after six years as one of his students, three years as an undergrad and three more as a graduate student. For pushing me and believing in me when I thought I could not make it. Also thanks to my committee members Dr. Carlos Ríos Velázquez and Dr. Sandra L. Maldonado Ramírez for their support and advice.

I also would like to thank all of the undergraduate students that helped me at some point with this project. Mariely Rosado, Olga Ortiz, Imperio Real, Carla Centeno, and Charles Soto thank you all for showing interest in my project and for your exceptional work and help. Special thanks to Magaly Zapata and Carol Rivera for lending laboratory equipment such as the spectrophotometer and shaker incubators. Also to the Anaerobic Solutions Lab: William Morales, Christian Del Río, Alvin Crespo, and Jomar Medina, for lending their spectrophotometer and their help in many occasions. Thanks to the Bridges to Doctorate Program for their financial support project (Grant number R25GM058389).

Last but not least, thanks to God for giving the strength to complete this journey and to my parents, Emilia Castro and Carlos R. Kelly, my love, Carlos J. Bernal, and my tribe of Colombians for being part of this journey one way or another with their love, support and encouragement.

vi

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of Contents vii
List of Tablesix
List of Figuresx
List of Appendices xiii
1: General Overview
1.1 Introduction
1.2 Literature Review
1.2.1 Manglicolous fungi 5
1.2.2 Lignolytic fungi7
1.2.3 Lignolytic fungi degrading PAHs
1.3 Goals
1.3.1 Hypothesis 10
1.3.2 Objectives
2: Materials and Methods11
2.1 Sampling Area11
2.2 Wood Sampling 12
2.3 Fungi isolation
2.4 DNA extraction and ITS region amplification13
2.5 Congo Red degradation screening assay 13
2.6 Naphthalene as only carbon and energy source
2.7 Lignolytic enzyme assay 15
2.8 Statistical analysis
3: Results19
3.1 Molecular identification of samples isolated from <i>Rhizophora mangle</i> wood 19
3.2 Congo Red dye screening assay 21

3.2.1 Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates	
3.2.2 La Parguera, Lajas isolates	
3.3 Naphthalene as only carbon and energy source	
3.4 Lignolytic enzyme activity	
3.4.1 Samples from Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo	46
3.4.2 Samples from La Parguera, Lajas	50
4: Discussion	56
5: Recomendations	
6: Conclusions	
References	
Appendices	69

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Solutions and reagents used for the Lowry technique	17
Table 2. Fungi isolated from <i>Rhizophora mangle</i> wood in this study	20

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4. Decolorization percentages of Congo Red by 3 fungal isolates from Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo. The isolates were grown in BM with CR, incubated at 28°C for a period of 10 days with and agitation of 150 rpm. Isolates were selected based on their decolorization rate......25

Figure 19. Enzymatic activity and total protein concentration of *A. caelatus* (**IRmPL 5**). The graph shows total protein concentration, laccase, and Mn peroxidase activity in the supernatant. (A) Is *A. caelatus* (**IRmPL 5**), (B) is *Trametes* sp., positive control, and (C) *E. coli*, negative control. The 3 microorganims are growing in basal media with different carbon and energy source: (1) glucose, (2) Congo Red, and (3) naphthalene......**51**

Figure 20. Enzymatic activity and total protein concentration of *P. lilacinum* (**RmPL 5-1e-2**). The graph shows total protein concentration, laccase, and Mn peroxidase activity in the supernatant. (A) Is *P. lilacinum* (RmPL 5-1e-2), (B) is *Trametes* sp., positive control, and (C) *E. coli*, negative control. The 3 microorganims are growing in basal media with different carbon and energy source: (1) glucose, (2) Congo Red, and (3) naphthalene.......**53**

Figure 21. LiP assay with methylene blue decolorization percentages. The figure shows a series of bar graphs illustrating decolorization percentages in the LiP assay using methylene blue as substrate. The assay was done for samples *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1) (A), *F. solani* (RmBS3) (B), *A. caelatus* (IRmPL 5) (C), and *P. lilacinum* (RmPL 5-1e-2). The assay was also done for positive control *Trametes* sp. (E) and negative control *E. coli* (not shown)......**55**

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendices
Appendix 1. Table of raw sequences of the 20 isolates70
Appendix 1.1. Sequences of Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo70
Appendix 1.2 Sequences of La PArguera, Lajas73
Appendix 2. ANOVA
Appendix 2.1 ANOVA of biomass produced by the Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates growing in BM with Congo Red. N=5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate
Appendix 2.2. ANOVA of decolorization percentages of Congo Red by the Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates. N=5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate
Appendix 2.3. ANOVA of Congo Red concnetrations in basal media inoculated with Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates. $N= 5$, number of isolates measured for their biomass and $n=3$ is the number of replicates for each isolate
Appendix 2.4. ANOVA of Congo Red concentration in basal media inoculated with La Parguera, Lajas isolates. $N= 5$, number of isolates measured for their biomass and $n=3$ is the number of replicates for each isolate
Appendix 2.5. ANOVA of biomass produced by La Parguera, Lajas isolates growing in BM with Congo Red N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate
Appendix 2.6. ANOVA of decolorization percentages of basal media with Congo Red inoculated with La Parguera, Lajas isolates. N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate81
Appendix 2.7. ANOVA of biomass produced by Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates growing in basal media with naphthalene. N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate82

1 General Overview

1.1 Introduction

Mangroves are complex ecosystems found in tropical and subtropical coastlines around the world in the same range of latitudes near the equator. There are 80 different species of mangrove trees growing in areas of low-oxygen soil, where slow-moving waters allow fine sediments to accumulate (US Department of Commerce 2014). Mangrove ecosystems in Puerto Rico play a large ecological role by stabilizing the coastline, reducing erosion from storm surges, currents (US Department of Commerce 2014), waves, and tides (Pérez Rivera 2006). In addition, these trees provide shelter for vertebrate and invertebrate marine species and harbor a wide range of microorganisms such as bacteria and fungi (US EPA 2015). Microorganisms have different ecological roles, which include pathogenic and protector species of mangrove trees (US Department of Commerce 2014). On the down side, mangrove forests are highly vulnerable to pollution and can be further damaged by many types of cleanup activities (US Department of Commerce 2014). Conventional cleanup methods include removal, alteration or isolation of the pollutant, but these techniques can be expensive and in many cases transfer the pollutant from one phase to another (Haritash and Kaushik 2009). Oil spills are an example of pollution that have been occurring for decades around the world and have a negative effect on mangrove ecosystems. Unfortunately, the south coast of Puerto Rico has been affected by two major oil tanker spills of crude oil: the Argea Prima in 1962, which released 69,000 bbl, the Zoe Colocotronis in 1973, which released 24,000 bbl (Corredor et al. 1990, Hoff et al. 2002), and the Mystery Spill in August 29, 2007, were approximately 45,000 gallons of crude oil released (Fallis 2013). Another source of contamination was the petrochemical complex, thermoelectric power plant and transshipment port abandoned 20 years ago located in Guayanilla Bay.

Mangrove forests are constantly exposed to unknown amounts of different pollutants from motorboats such as gasoline or diesel. The incomplete combustion of diesel results in polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) compounds (Szewczyńska et al. 2013), which are toxic, mutagenic and carcinogenic ubiquitous contaminants (International Agency for Research on Cancer 1983, Haritash and Kaushik 2009). These compounds accumulate in the sediments of the aquatic environments because of their low solubility and hydrophobic nature (Ranjan et al. 2012) and due to their persistence it is difficult to eliminate them (US EPA, OSWER 2008). As the molecular weight increases so does the persistence of the PAHs (Haritash and Kaushik 2009).

In a study conducted by Klekowski et al. (1994), they documented that mangrove trees, such as *Rhizophora mangle*, undergo tissue mutagenesis after being chronically expose to xenobiotics, which are foreign chemical substances, such as PAHs. Exposure to PAHs causes them to produce unfertile propagules (Klekowski et al. 1994), which are seed-like structures that detach from the plant and give rise to a new one. Unfertile propagules could then be a problem for the restoration or regeneration of mangrove forests.

The process of degradation of PAHs can take weeks to months. Investigations of the stability of PAHs in soil or sewage found that half-lives of PAHs were in the range of 3-3,111 days (Włodarczyk-Makuła 2012). They can undergo chemical oxidation, photolysis, bioaccumulation, volatilization and absorption, but microbial degradation is the primary process (US Department of Health and Human Services 1995, Li et al. 2008). To solve the problem of polluted marine ecosystems, a variety of physical techniques emerged, but there

is evidence that these techniques can also cause damage to the associated biota and prevent the restoration of certain habitats, including mangrove ecosystems (Olguín et al. 2007). For example, pressure washing can drive oil deeper into the beach killing the organisms that live there (US EPA 1993). This is why bioremediation techniques such as biostimulation, bioaugmentation and bioattenuation emerge to avoid more damage and accelerate natural processes. In **biostimulation** nutrients are added to the environment to stimulate *in-situ* microorganisms capable of degrading pollutants whereas in bioaugmentation microorganisms are added to the environment to serve as degraders. Bioattenuation is a method which relies in natural processes to dissipate the contaminants through biological transformation (Mrozik and Piotrowska-Seget 2010).

To take advantage of the microorganisms in mangrove ecosystems we must first know who they are and what role or functions they have. Mangrove ecosystems harbor a group of fungi called "manglicolous fungi", able to synthesize all the necessary enzymes to degrade lignin, cellulose and other plant components (Sahoo and Dhal 2009). Lignocellulosic substrates in the marine environment, particularly mangrove wood, support a diverse mycobiota (Sarma and Hyde 2001). Lignolytic enzymes produced by manglicolous fungi have a low specificity for substrates, meaning that they are suitable for degradation of different compounds (Haritash and Kaushik 2009). Since lignin and pollutants such as PAHs have similar chemical structures these enzymes can degrade both. Studies have shown that ligninolytic fungi represent a promising alternative for biodegradation of various aromatic pollutants (Čvančarová et al. 2012).

Most available reports on manglicolous fungi are from the Pacific and Indian Oceans (Sarma and Hyde 2001), and little is known about them in the Atlantic Ocean or the Caribbean, especially for mangroves in Puerto Rico. Although, similar manglicolous fungal community is expected due to equivalent tropical environmental conditions between Puerto Rico and the Pacific and Indian oceans. The purpose of this project was to identify manglicolous fungi associated with *Rhizophora mangle* wood in Puerto Rico that may be able to produce lignolytic enzymes. Since PAHs are persistent in the environment these enzymes could be applied to aid in the degradation process of these compounds. Various areas in Puerto Rico exposed to PAHs contamination could benefit from bioremediation using lignolytic enzymes secreted by manglicolous fungi. This information could be used to design projects of biostimulation in mangrove ecosystems of Puerto Rico that have been exposed to these contaminants.

1.2. Literature Review

1.2.1. Manglicolous Fungi

Mangrove ecosystems are forests composed of specialized trees called mangroves with particular adaptations to survive in high salinity environments(Department of Natural and Environmental Resources 2009). Those adaptations give trees the advantage of resisting high concentrations of salt. Mangroves are found around the shores of tropical and subtropical regions serving as barriers to protect the coastlines and also as home to diverse groups of vertebrates, invertebrates and microorganisms. Mangroves are of great ecological and economical value all around the world (Lacerda 1993, Lugo 2002, Martinuzzi et al. 2009). There are 80 species of mangrove trees around the world, but the Caribbean only has four (Department of Natural and Environmental Resources 2009): Rhizophora mangle, Avicennia germinans, Languncularia racemosa and Conocarpus erectus. Puerto Rico has 97 sites were mangroves have been documented between 1977-2002 representing an increase in mangrove cover of 12% around the island (Martinuzzi et al. 2009). Research on mangrove ecosystems in Puerto Rico range from mangrove forest distribution to the role of certain invertebrates inhabiting mangrove trees. For example, Martinuzzi et al. (2009) conducted a study were they explore the influences of human activities over mangrove ecosystems and how they have been conserved/recovered over a period of 200 years. Other studies centered on the importance of mangrove forests on the input/output of the organic cycles. For example, Corredor et al. (1990) observed that fluxes of nitrous oxide in mangrove sediments vary in response to nitrogen substrate availability (Corredor et al. 1999). Most studies about invertebrates that live in mangrove

ecosystems deal with oysters and clams (Dubilier et al. 2008, Laurent et al. 2009), especially, *Phacoides pectinatus*, a clam that lives buried in the marine sludge surrounding red mangroves (Dubilier et al. 2008).

Microorganisms have an important role in the recycling of organic matter. Tree and subsurface root litter provide a significant input of organic carbon to sediments (Kristensen et al. 2008). The degradation of organic matter in mangrove sediments is mediated by aerobic and anaerobic microbial processes using a variety of electron acceptors (Kristensen et al. 2008). The degradation process is mediated by a complex microbiota where each individual microorganism plays an important role. Most of the recent research has focused on the anaerobic microbial degradation process due to the governing conditions in mangrove sediments, and few focused on the aerobic process. Recently, decomposition of organic material, mainly wood, by fungi has become a focal point of research (Nambiar and Raveendran 2009). Fungi use lignocellulose components as their nutrient source by secreting enzymes to degrade components into smaller units, which can be incorporated into their metabolism. In addition, fungal marine borers play an important role in the breakdown of materials in the lower intertidal zone (Hyde 1991).

The kingdom Fungi includes a wide variety of species characterized for being natural decomposers, having a crucial role in recycling organic matter. Manglicolous fungi, which are part of the higher marine fungi, can be found on submerged parts of mangroves. This group includes several species and is the fourth largest ecological group after the wood-, salt-marsh-, and algae-inhabiting species in marine environments (Kohlmeyer & Kohlmeyer, 1979). The majority occur on cellulosic substrates, mainly in submerged and dead mangrove roots and in the damage seeds growing in sea water (Acevedo Ríos 1987) all around the tropics. These usually invade the wood after the protective bark has been damaged or torn off (Kohlmeyer and Kohlmeyer 1979).

Most studies have focused on the diversity of fungi associated with two or fewer species of mangrove trees (Sarma and Hyde 2001, Nambiar and Raveendran 2008, Madavasamy and Paneerselvam 2012). For example, Kohlmeyer & Kohlmeyer (1979) described just a few host-specific fungi limited to Rhizophora mangle such as Didymosphaeria rhizophorae, Keissleriella blepharospora, and Robillarda rhizophorae. A more recent study by Nambiar and Raveendran (2008) reported the frequency of Ascomycetes occurring on specific mangrove trees such as *Rhizophora mangle*. In Puerto Rico, a study on the southwest coast in La Parguera identified mangrove-wood associated Ascomycota from pure cultures. Nine genera were identified, including *Pleospora*, Kymadiscus, Leptosphaeria, Lophiostoma, Didymosphaeria. Macrophoma, Phoma, Phialophorophoma, and Tubercularia (Acevedo Ríos 1987). Most studies involving manglicolous fungi are of a descriptive nature responding to taxonomic and inventory interests (Sahoo and Dhal 2009) and only a few are focused on the role of these fungi in the environment. The present study focused on the role of maglicolous fungi and their ability to produce enzymes on mangrove ecosystems.

1.2.2. Lignolytic Fungi

Every untreated piece of wood that is submerged for a certain period of time in marine or estuarine waters is attacked by higher marine fungi (Kohlmeyer and Kohlmeyer, 1979). This attack is faster and more severe in tropical waters than in temperate ones. Lignin is the most abundant natural aromatic polymer on earth and its degradation is caused in nature primarily by white rot fungi through enzymatic combustion (Kirk and Farrell 1987). The lignolytic system is an extracellular enzymatic complex that includes peroxidases, laccases and oxidases (Ruiz-Dueñas and Martínez 2009). The enzymes responsible for lignin degradation are mainly lignin peroxidase (LiP), manganese peroxidase (MnP) and a copper containing phenoloxidase, known as laccase (Mendonça Maciel et al. 2010). The process of lignin degradation is a synergism between bacteria and fungi capable of producing the necessary enzymes for this process to occur. These enzymes also play a major role in the food, textile, paper, pharmaceutical and cosmetic industry, as well as for biodegradation of xenobiotics such as PAHs (Mendonça Maciel et al. 2010).

1.2.3. Lignolytic fungi degrading PAHs

Human activities have had a negative impact on mangrove forests. For example, oil spills that occurred near the southwest coast of Puerto Rico in 1962 by Argea Prima and in 1973 by the Zoe Colocotronis caused major damaged to the biota (NOAA 2001). Petroleum and diesel spills from industrial processes can yield PAHs (Bamforth and Singleton 2005) derived from the incomplete combustion of hydrocarbons, such as coal and gasoline. They are also manufactured as part of pesticides, pharmaceuticals and dyes, which are persistent in the environment (Atagana 2009). Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons are a class of organic compounds that consist of two or more fused benzene rings and/or pentacyclic molecules arranged in various structural configurations (Bamforth and Singleton 2005). PAHs are an environmental concern because they are toxic to aquatic life and suspected human carcinogens and a mutagenic risk(US EPA, OSWER, Office of Resource Conservation and Recovery 2008). Mangrove sediments are closely tied to human activities and are subjected to PAH contamination (Haritash and

Kaushik 2009). The persistence of PAHs in the environment is dependent on a variety of factors, such as the chemical structure of the PAH, concentration, dispersion of the compound and the bioavailability of the contaminant (Bamforth and Singleton, 2005). Several lignolytic fungi are known to degrade PAHs, including white-rot fungi, *Cunninghamella echinulata* var. *elegans* and other litter-decomposing fungi (Haritash and Kaushik 2009, Pozdnyakova 2012). Due to the irregular structure of lignin, lignolytic fungi produce extracellular enzymes with very low substrate specificity, making them suitable for degradation of different compounds (Haritash and Kaushik 2009). White-rot fungi can oxidize PAHs by generating free radicals, which oxidizes the PAH ring (Bamforth and Singleton 2005). These extracellular enzymes are theoretically able to diffuse into the soil/sediment matrix and potentially oxidize PAHs with low bioavailability (Bamforth and Singleton 2005).

Floating wood from *Rhizophora mangle* is a great substrate for lignolytic fungi in Puerto Rico (Acevedo Ríos 1987), which warrants further investigation of manglicolous fungi in the southwest coast of the island. Manglicolous fungi could be used as alternative microorganisms to produce enzymes necessary to degrade PAHs and thus, help clean up the coastline affected by oil spills. The main objective of this project was to isolate and identify manglicolous fungi that use lignin as their main source of energy and produce lignolytic enzymes that may also act in the presence of contaminants such as PAHs.

1.3. Goals

1.3.1. Hypotheses

1. If fungal samples are isolated from *Rhizophora mangle* wood then the isolated fungi should be able to grow on media supplement with carbon sources with similar structure to lignin such as Congo Red.

2. If fungal isolates are able to use Congo Red dye as their only carbon and energy source, then they could also use naphthalene as their only carbon and energy source.

3. If fungal isolates grow in basal media with Congo Red or naphthalene, then lignolytic enzyme activity should be observed.

1.3.2. Objectives

1. The principal goal of this study was to isolate manglicolous fungi with the capability to use xenobiotics, such as Congo Red dye or naphthalene as their only carbon and energy source.

2. Identify the manglicolous fungi isolated with the sequences obtained from amplifying the ITS region using primers ITS4 and ITS5.

3. Conduct enzymatic assays to determine the production of the lignolytic enzymes such as lignin peroxidases, manganese peroxidase, and laccase.

2 Materials and Methods



2.1. Sampling Area

Figure 1. Sampling areas. Map of Puerto Rico (A). The yellow stars mark the two sampling sites in the study. Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo sampling site (B) and La Parguera, Lajas sampling site (C).

For this study two sampling areas were selected: Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo (17°56'25.18"N 67°11'34.61"W) and La Parguera, Lajas (18°12.745N 067° 08.322W). These are two differently impacted areas with PAHs contaminants. Both areas were impacted by oil spills, in 1962 by Argea Prima and in 1973 Zoe Colocotronis, respectively. Even though many years have passed since these incidents it is known that PAHs have a high persistent in the environment (Włodarczyk-Makuła 2012). In addition, the two areas have different water vehicle activity. La Parguera, Lajas is a tourist attraction with daily high motorboat activity, while Bahia Salinas, Cabo Rojo has little motorboat visits.

2.2. Wood sampling

Wood samples from *Rhizophora mangle* were collected manually from each site. Decaying mangrove-wood was examined on location for fungal activity. Pieces of wood colonized by fungi were place in labeled plastic bags (date, time and collecting site) (Acevedo Ríos 1987). Water temperature and pH were also recorded. Samples were incubated three to four weeks at room temperature in plastic sealed moist bags in the laboratory (Kohlmeyer and Kohlmeyer, 1979) and examined for fruiting bodies or mycelia every 5 days. Mycelia were subsequently transferred into Petri dishes with culture media as described.

2.3. Fungal isolation

Glucose-yeast extract agar (SWYGA) was used for isolating marine fungi (Kohlmeyer & Kohlmeyer, 1979). The composition of this media consists of 1g of glucose, 0.1g of yeast extract, 18g of agar and 1L of aged seawater. Natural seawater was aged and stored for at least 1

week before use (Kohlmeyer & Kohlmeyer, 1979) and filtered with Whatman Filter Papers (1: 11µm). Cultures were incubated at 28°C for a period of 7 days. Potato dextrose agar (PDA) media (Difco) supplemented with 3.5% of NaCl was used to preserve pure isolates.

2.4. DNA extraction and ITS region amplification

Genomic DNA from all isolates in pure culture was extracted with the Cetyl-Trimethyl Ammonium Bromide (CTAB) modified protocol (Mueller et al. 1998, Vo et al. 2009). PCR amplification of the ITS rDNA fragment as structural marker was done using primers ITS 4 (5'-TCCTCCGCTTATTGATATGCT-3') and ITS 5 (5'-GGAAGTAAAAGTCGTAACAAGG-3') (White et al. 1990). The complete protocol has a duration time of approximately 2hr 3min. The cycling protocol consists of 1) 95°C for 120 sec, 2) 35 cycles of 95°C for 30 sec, 55°C for 30 sec, and 72°C for 60 sec.

PCR products were sent to the University of Washington High Throughput Genomic Sequencing Center for sequencing. BLAST searches in the database from the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) were performed to identify the specimens.

2.5. Congo Red degradation screening assay

As a preliminary screening to select isolates that were later used for bioassays, isolates were inoculated in basal media with Congo Red dye as only carbon and energy source. Congo Red is a diazo dye used commonly in the paper and textile industry, which is recalcitrant and known carcinogen because it is an aromatic compound with an amine group (Bhattacharya et al. 2011). It has been shown that the lignin-degrading system of some fungi are able to degrade diverse organic pollutants such as Congo Red. The AZO dye Congo Red has similar chemical structure to lignin, thus serving as proxy for lignin degradation. Decolorization of the media was observed and measured over a period of 10 days. Under sterile conditions, one-centimeter plugs of the fungal isolates were dropped in a liquid basal medium with Congo Red at 28°C with agitation of 150 rpm. The basal medium (BM) contained MgSO₄.7H₂O: 0.5 g, HK₂PO₄: 0.6 g, H₂KPO₄: 0.5g, NaNO₃ [10mg/ml]: 200ml, and dH₂O: 800ml. The samples were inoculated in 50 ml Erlenmeyer flasks with 30 ml of media. The concentration of Congo Red used in every trial was 0.01mg/ml. Every two days, one ml of supernatant was extracted to measure absorbance at 490 nm and the percentage of degradation was calculated using the following equation:

$$\% Decolorization = \frac{A_0 - A_t}{A_0}$$

Asperguillus flavus (ATCC 10124) (Eurotiales: Ascomycota) was used as a positive control since it is known to degrade Congo Red (Singh and Singh 2010). A *Trametes* sp. was also used as a second positive control for being a well-known white rot fungi. *Escherichia coli* was used as a negative control. Also flaks with no microorganisms inoculated were used as a second negative control. Positive cultures for Congo Red degradation were then selected for lignolytic enzyme assays.

2.6. Naphthalene as only carbon and energy source

Three isolates from the Congo Red dye screening assay were selected to determine polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) degradation capacity. The assay was done using a minimal medium (MgSO₄.7H₂O: 0.5 g, HK₂PO₄: 0.6 g, H₂KPO₄: 0.5g, NaNO₃ [10mg/ml]: 200ml, and dH₂O: 800ml) containing 0.04 mg/ml of naphthalene as the only source of carbon

and energy. Naphthalene was first dissolved in acetone at a concentration of [2.5mg/ml] and then added into the media for a final concentration of [1mg/ml]. For this assay 70 ml serum bottles were used. The bottles had 15ml of the media and then sealed with rubber stoppers to prevent volatilization of naphthalene. Isolates were incubated at 28° C with agitation of 150 rpm for a period of 20 days. Absorbance was measured at 320 nm every five days. To extract the supernatant 1ml syringes were used. Spectrophotometry is a quantitatively way of measuring the amount of naphthalene in the media. If the isolates were able to grow on this medium, then they might be able to use PAHs as their only carbon and energy source.

2.7. Lignolytic enzymatic assay

To establish if lignolytic enzymes play a role in the degradation of Congo Red dye or naphthalene, enzyme activity assays were performed. Lignolytic enzymes are non-specific, which means they will act upon most chemical compounds with similar structure to lignin. The enzymes measured were: lignin peroxidase (LiP), manganese peroxidase (MnP) and laccase. The total protein concentration in the supernatant was also measured using the Lowry technique.

Fifthteen millitters of supernatant of the six selected isolates and the control were saved in a 15ml centrifuge tube at -20°C until further experiments. One-milliliter samples were analyzed for the three enzymes and total protein by spectrophotometry as follows:

Lignin Peroxidase (**LiP**) the assay was done using methylene blue as an indicator of oxidation as described by Bello Magalhães et al. (1996). The reaction mixture contained 3.0ml in total: 2.2 ml of the sample supernatant, 0.1 ml of 1.2mM methylene blue and 0.6 ml of 0.5M sodium tartrate buffer (pH4). The reaction was started by the addition of 0.1 ml of 2.7mM H₂O₂. The change in absorbance was measured at 664nm. In the presence of lignin peroxidase H_2O_2 initiates the oxidation of methylene blue to azure C.

Manganese Peroxidase (**MnP**) assay reaction mixture contained 2.5ml of a solution of 100mL of succinate buffer (succinic acid 23.6g/L, and NaOH 8g/L), 22.3mg of SO₄Mn.4H₂O, and 10 mg of phenol red will be used. A 100µl of the sample were added, and then the tube was incubated in a water bath at 30°C for 10 minutes. Afterwards 20 µl of H₂O₂ were added to the control and to each sample tube and incubated again in the water bath at 30°C for 5 minutes. Thereafter, 40µl of HONa 5N were added to end the reaction and the absorbance was read at 610nm (Kuwahara et al. 1984, Glenn and Gold 1985). In the presence of MnP when H₂O₂ is added the SO₄Mn.4H₂O is oxidized from Mn⁺² to Mn⁺³.

Laccase activity was determined through the ABTS method (Bourbonnais et al. 1995). The substrate is composed of 0.5mM ABTS [2, 2'-azinobis (3-etilbenztiazoline-6-sulfonate)] and 0.1 M sodium acetate buffer (pH 5) [27.43 mg ABTS/100 ml buffer AcNa, pH 5 (30 A+ 70 B \rightarrow 200 ml)]. The reaction consisted of 2.5ml of substrate/tube incubated in a water bath at 30°C for 5-10 minutes, 10-50µl of the sample was added and incubated for at least one minute until reaction turns green. In the presence of laccase ABTS is oxidize, hence the change in color to green. Absorbance was read at 420nm and compare to the control (ABTS alone) (Bourbonnais et al. 1995).

Lowry technique was used to measure the total protein concentration in the supernatant. The reaction consists on 1ml of the supernatant, 100 μ l of water and 1ml of solution I¹ and then incubated at 37°C for 20 min. After the incubation period 100 μ l of solution II² were added, incubated at 37°C for 20 minutes. Absorbance was read at 660 nm. Table 1 shows a breakdown of all the solutions and reagents used for the Lowry technique.

For three enzymatic assays and the total protein concentration assay a standard curve was design using known concentrations of laccase, Mn peroxidases, Li peroxidase and albumin in the Lowry assay. The standard curve obtain of each enzyme was used to determine the concentration of total protein and the concentration of substrate from each enzymatic reaction.

Solution A	60g Na ₂ CO ₃
Solution A	8g NaOH
	1000ml H ₂ O
Solution B	4g Sodium tartrate
	100ml H ₂ O
Solution C	2g CuSO ₄
	100ml H ₂ O
Solution D	Folin-Ciocalteu's phenol reagente
Solution E	40mg BSA
	200ml H ₂ O

Table 1. Solutions and reagents used for the Lowry technique.

¹Solution I: 9.6ml A + 0.2ml B + 0.2ml C; ²Solution II: 0.2ml D + 0.8ml H₂O

2.8. Statistical analysis

To establish if there was a significant difference between the fungal isolates using Congo Red or naphthalene, the biomass produced and the concentration of the carbon source levels an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed. A Box Cox analysis was done for each isolate to validate the proposed model. The ANOVA is done to observe the variability of the biomass, concentration and the percent of decolorization depending on the fungal isolate used. Also, a desirability analysis was done to determine the best fungal isolate depending on the variable being evaluated. All of the statistical data was evaluated using an Error Type I (α) 0.05. All statistical analyses were done in the program Design Expert® (version 9.0.6).

3 Results

3.1 Molecular identification of samples isolated from *Rhizophora mangle* wood

Sampling sessions were both conducted during rainy season on September 2013. During September 2013 both sampling sites received between 4-7" of rain Temperature and pH were recorded for both sites. Water from Baía Salinas, Cabo Rojo had a pH of 8.5 and temperature ranging between 28.3°- 29.01°C. Water at La Parguera, Lajas also had a pH of 8.5 and temperature ranging between the 27.9°- 29.5°C. From each sampling site 10 pieces of mangrove wood were collected. Table 1 shows the species found in both sampling sites. In both sampling sites Bahía Salinas (BS), Cabo Rojo, and La Parguera (LP), Lajas, 10 fungi were isolated from each site. Isolates were identified using the sequences obtained by amplifying the ITS region (primers ITS 4 and ITS 5). Sequences were compared using NCBI BLAST nucleotide database. Nineteen out of twenty isolates were Ascomyccetes; only one isolate is a Basidiomycete. Samples from BS included Asperguillus fumigatus, A. micronesiensis, A. niger, A. terreus, Fusarium solani, Penicillium citrinum, P. griseofulvum, and Purpureocillium lilacinum. Fungi isolated from La Parguera include A. caelatus, A. sclerotiorum, A. niger, Engyodotium album, Hypocrea lixii, Phoma sp., Purpureocillium lilacinum, and Tritirachium oryzae. A. niger and P. *lilacinum* were the only isolates to my found in both sampling sites. For both sampling sites P. *lilacinum* had the highest frequency (0.30), while the others had a frequency of 0.1.

	Distribution of isolates based on the sampling area	
Name of fungi	Bahia Salinas, Cabo Rojo	La Parguera, Lajas
Aspergillus caelatus (Eurotiales, Aspergillaceae)	0	1
<i>Aspergillus fumigatus</i> (Eurotiales, Aspergillaceae)	1	0
Aspergillus micronesiensis (Eurotiales, Aspergillaceae)	1	0
Aspergillus niger (Eurotiales, Aspergillaceae)	1	1
Aspergillus sclerotiorum (Eurotiales, Aspergillaceae)	0	1
Aspergillus terreus (Eurotiales, Aspergillaceae)	1	0
<i>Engyodotium album</i> (Hypocreales, Cordycipitaceae)	0	1
<i>Fusarium solani</i> (Hypocreales, Nectriaceae)	1	0
<i>Hypocrea lixii</i> (Hypocreales, Hypocreaceae)	0	1
<i>Penicillium citrinum</i> (Eurotiales, Aspergillaceae)	1	0
<i>Penicillium griseofulvum</i> (Eurotiales, Aspergillaceae)	1	0
Phoma sp. (Pleosporales)	0	1
<i>Purpureocillium lilacinum</i> (Hypocreales, Ophiocordycipitaceae)	3	3
<i>Tritirachium oryzae</i> (Tritirachiales, Tritiraceae)	0	1
Total	10	10

Table 2. Fungi isolated from *Rhizophora mangle* wood in this study.

3.2 Congo Red dye screening assay

3.2.1 Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates

A preliminary screening assay of the 10 isolates was done using CR dye. Initial media had a red color; 37.5% of the isolates had reach over a 50% of decolorization of the medium by day 10 (Figure 3) but after 10 days of incubation samples range between 87-100% of decolorization leaving the media of those that reached 100% completely transparent (Figure 2). It was also observed that the mycelium mass absorbed the red dye, instead of having their normal cream color (Figure 2). The isolates might be absorbing the dye from the medium; to assure degradation of the dye from the medium further experiments, such as chromatography of the medium and the fungal isolate should be done. Moreover, the fungal isolates are removing the dye from the medium in a fast manner.



Figure 2. Basal media with Congo Red in 125ml Erlenmeyer flasks. (A) shows day 0 of BM with Congo Red and (B) shows media after 10 days of incubation. Note the red mycelia round bodies at the bottom of the flask.

All isolates from BS have showed the ability of removing Congo Red from the media (Figure 3). The slowest isolate at decolorizing the medium was sample RmBS 6-1, identified as *Asperguillus terreus*. Sample RmBS 2-1-1, identified as *Penicillium citrinum*, showed the highest capability of using Congo Red as its carbon and energy source. By day 2, which was the 2nd day of measurements, *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1), had reached 57.88mg of biomass, 100% of decolorization and a concentration of Congo Red in the medium of 0.0127 mg/ml. This isolate was faster at removing CR from the medium than the positive control, *Aspergillus flavus* (ATCC 10124), and reaching 99.2% of degradation by day 2.


Figure 3. Decolorization percentages of 10 fungal isolates from Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo. Isolates were grown in basal media with CR, incubated for a period of 10 days at 28°C with agitation of 150 rpm.

After using Congo Red dye for screening the isolates, only 3 isolates were selected for further studies. They were selected on their rate of decolorizing the media; the fastest, intermediate and slowest. Also isolates were picked based on whether they have not been previously tested for the capability of using Congo Red or naphthalene as their only carbon source. These were *Penicillium citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1), *Fusarium solani* (RmBS 3), and *Purpureocillium lilacinum* (RmBS 1-2b). Time was a variable considered when selecting the isolates for the experiments. Figure 4 shows the decolorization percentages of the three isolates selected and the controls during a period of 20 days incubated at 28°C, 150 rpm. The percentage of decolorization obtained by day 2 was used as a criterion since the percentage of decolorization obtained by day 10 for the 10 isolates ranged between 87-100%. By day 2, *P. citrinum* had reached 99.2%, *F. solani* 56%, and *P. lilacinum* 22% of media decolorization.



Figure 4. Decolorization percentages of Congo Red by 3 fungal isolates from Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo. The isolates were grown in BM with CR, incubated at 28°C for a period of 10 days with and agitation of 150 rpm. Isolates were selected based on their decolorization rate.

Figure 5 shows graphs of the concentration of Congo Red in the media and the biomass of the isolates after 20-day incubation. Isolates showed higher biomass when grown in BM with CR compared to BM with glucose. Results also showed an inversely proportional relation between the concentration of CR left in the media and the biomass. *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1) growing in BM with CR had the highest biomass by day 20 with 68.10 mg. The fact that *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1) has the highest biomass relates to the observation of having lowest concentration of Congo Red left in the media meaning that *P. citrinum* RmBS (2-1-1) is using CR as a carbon and energy source to grow. When compared to the growth of the isolate in BM with glucose, the biomass that produces is lower than the one produced when growing in BM with CR. In fact, the 3 isolates show a higher biomass while growing in BM with CR than when growing in BM with glucose. *P. lilacinum* (RmBS 1-2b) and *F. solani* (RmBS 3) had 56.53 mg and 21.63 mg of biomass, respectively. Both *P. lilacinum* (RmBS1-2b) and *P. citrinum* (RmBS2-1-1) had higher biomass by day 20 when compared to the positive control *A. flavus*.

Also, analysis of variance were done to determine if there was a significant difference in biomass produced by the isolates and the concentration of CR left in the media after the 20 days of incubation. The analysis show that all of this factors were significantly different in the experiment.



Figure 5. Concentration of Congo Red left in the media in relation with the biomass produce by the isolates. Graphs A-D show the relation between the concentration of Congo Red left in the media and the biomass of the isolates. Blue columns show biomass of isolates BM with CR; gray columns show biomass in BM with glucose. *P. lilacinum* RmBS 1-2b (A), *P. citrinum* RmBS 2-1-1 (B), *F. solani* RmBS 3 (C), *A. flavus* (positive control) (D), *Trametes* sp. (positive control) (E), and *E. coli* (negative control) (F).



Figure 6. Desirability model arranged in Design Expert®. This model shows that *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1) was the isolate with the best results in terms of producing a high biomass, lowering the concentration of Congo Red in the medium and with a high decolorization percentage.

3.2.2 La Parguera, Lajas isolates

From the sampling site La Parguera, Lajas 10 isolates were also recovered and screened for Congo Red decoloriztion. Samples were grown in BM with CR, incubated for a period of 10 days, at 28°C with agitation of 150 rpm. In this screening, the isolates had a lower decolorization percentage ranging between 21-60% of decolorization compared to Bahia Salinas, Cabo Rojo samples, which by day 10 had reached 100% of decolorization (Figure 7). Isolate RmPL 5 (25P), identified as *Asperguillus caelatus*, and reached 59.04% of decolorization being the highest of all isolates by day 10. The lowest decolorization % was obtained by sample IIRmPL 2b with 21%.



Figure 7. Congo Red decolorization percentages obtained by the 10 isolates from La Parguera, Lajas. Isolates were inoculated in basal media with Congo Red for a period of 10 days, at 28°C with agitation of 150 rpm. The red dotted line represents the control (+) 1 *Aspergillus flavus*, the salmon line represents control (+) 2 *Trametes* sp., and the black dotted line represents the control (-) *E. coli*.

In contrast to BS samples, the 3 isolates with the highest decolorization percentage were selected (Figure 8). These were *Purpureocillium lilacinum* RmPL 5-1e-2 (purple line), *Phoma* sp. RmPL 4-1-2 (orange line), and *Asperguillus caelatus* IRmPL 5 (green line). For this second experiment, where only the 3 selected isolates were used to grow in BM with CR, the decolorization percentage obtained were higher compared to the ones obtained during the screening assay. *Asperguillus flavus* (positive control 1), *Trametes* sp. (positive control 2) and *Escherichia coli* (negative control 1) were the controls used for these experiments. The light blue line represents a second negative control which only has BM with CR, where no fungal isolate was inoculated. Overall, *Phoma* sp RmPL 4-1-2 was the isolate with a higher biomass of 95.00 mg by day 5. In the presence of the isolate the medium had a decolorization percentage of 86.29% and a concentration of CR in the medium of 0.0120 mg/ml.

A desirability model was also prepared in the Design Expert® program which shows the isolate with the best results in terms of low concentration of CR in the medium, high decolorization percentage and high biomass production (Figure 9). When comparing the three isolates from LP, *A. caelatus* IRmPL 5 was the best fit in the model with a desirability of 0.850. By day 20, *A. caelatus* IRmPL 5, had a biomass of 44.98 mg and the concentration of CR in the medium was of 0.0056 mg/ml with a decolorization percentage of 97.52%.



Figure 8. Decolorization percentages of the 3 isolates selected from the La Parguera, Lajas. The graph shows the samples and the controls growing in BM with CR during a period of incubation of 20 days, incubated at 28°C with agitation of 150 rpm.



Figure 9. Desirability model arranged in Design Expert[®]**.** This model shows that *A. caelatus* IRmPL 5 was the isolate that showed the best results in terms of producing a high biomass, lowering the concentration of Congo Red in the medium and with a high decolorization percentage.

The relation between the concentration of CR left in the media and the isolates biomass produced growing in BM with CR or glucose is presented in a series of graphs (Figure 10). Contrary to the BS samples, these isolates have high biomass between days 5-10 and then they decrease. *Asperguillus caelatus* IRmPL 5, and *Phoma* sp. RmPL 4-1-2, show higher biomass when grown in BM with CR than when grown with glucose, except for day 20 for *A. caelatus* IRmPL 5, which has a higher biomass in glucose. *P. lilacinum* RmPL 5-1e-2 and *Phoma* sp. RmPL 4-1-2, growing in Congo Red media have high biomass by day 5 and then start to decrease. The analyses of variance show that all of these factors (biomass, concentration and decolorization percentage) are significantly different in the experiment after 20 days of incubation (Appendix 1.4-1.6).



Figure 10. Concentration of Congo Red left in the media in relation with the biomass produce by the isolates. Graphs A-D show the concentration of Congo Red left in the media in relation to the biomass produced by each isolate from La Parguera while growing in basal media with Congo Red or glucose. *P. lilacinum* RmPL 5-1e-2 (A), *Phoma* sp. RmPL 4-1-2 (B), *A. caelatus* IRmPL 5(C), *A. flavus* (positive control) (D), *Trametes sp.* (positive control) (E), and *E. coli* (negative control) (F).

3.3 Naphthalene as only carbon and energy source

Congo Red assays helped in the process of selecting the fungal isolates capable of using a xenobiotic as the only carbon and energy source. From both sampling sites, 3 isolates were selected for experiments using naphthalene as the only carbon and energy source. The selected three isolates from BS were *P. lilacinum* (RmBS 1-2b), *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1), and *F. solani* (RmBS 3) and from LP the isolates selected were *P. lilacinum* (RmPL 5-1e-2), *Phoma* sp (RmPL 4-1-2), and *A. caelatus* (IRmPL 5). As well as in other experiments, *Asperguillus flavus* and *Trametes* sp. were used as positive controls and the negative controls were *E. coli* and basal media with naphthalene without any fungi. Figure 14 shows how the concentration of naphthalene decreases with time when inoculated with each of the isolates from Bahía Salinas. The graph shows that *F. solani* (RmBS 3) was the isolate that fastest decreased the concentration of naphthalene in the media, followed by *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1), and lastly by *P. lilacinum* (RmBS 1-2b).



Figure 11. Concentration of naphthalene left in basal media in the presence of each Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolate. Changes in concentration of naphthalene (left) in the media over a period of 20 days of incubation at 28°C with agitation of 150 rpm.

Here, also to illustrate how the concentration of naphthalene left in the media relates to the biomass produced by each isolate from Bahía Salinas, growing in BM with naphthalene (orange bars) or glucose (gray bars) a series of graphs were design (Figure 12). *P. lilacinum* (RmBS 1-2b) (Figure 5A) growing in BM with naphthalene has a lower biomass by day 5, on day 10 it is similar to the normal growth, on day 15 is lower and by day 20 it is higher than the normal growth with 31.70mg. This result might be due to the toxicity of naphthalene and the isolate trying to stay alive, but to be sure the experiment should be repeated. Overall, *P. lilacinum* (RmBS1-2b) was the isolate with the highest biomass by day 20. *P. citrinum* (RmBS2-1-1) reached 30.53 mg, *F. solani* (RmBS 3)14.97 mg, and *A. flavus* had the lowest biomass with 14.27 mg.

ANOVAs were done to determine if there was a significant difference with the biomass produced (Appendix 2.7) by each of BS isolates growing in BM with naphthalene and the concentration of naphthalene left in the media (Appendix 2.8). Both analyses show that there is a significant difference on the values of the biomass produced by each of the isolates and the concentration of naphthalene in relation to the days.

The desirability model arranged in Design Expert® program shows which isolate from BS was the best fit in terms of both producing a high biomass and lowering the naphthalene concentration in the medium (Figure 13). The results of this analysis show that *F. solani* (RmBS 3) by day 20 has a biomass of 27.32 mg and lowers the concentration of naphthalene to 0.0522 mg/ml.



Figure 12. Concentration of naphthalene left in the media in relation with the biomass produce by the isolates. Graphs A-D show the concentration of naphthalene left in the media in relation with the biomass produced of each isolate from Bahía Salinas while growing in basal media with naphthalene or glucose. *P. lilacinum* RmBS 1-2b (A), *P. citrinum* RmBS 2-1-1 (B), *F. solani* RmBS 3 (C), and *A. flavus* (positive control) (D), *Trametes* sp. (positive control) (E), *E. coli* (negative control) (F).



Concentration (mg/ml) = 0.0522973

Figure 13. Desirability model arranged in Design Expert[®]**.** This model shows that *F. solani* RmBS 3, was the isolate that showed the best results in terms of producing a high biomass, lowering the concentration of naphthalene in the medium from BS samples.



Figure 14. Concentration of naphthalene left in basal media in the presence of each La **Parguera, Lajas isolate.** Changes in concentration of naphthalene (left) in the media over a period of 20 days of incubation at 28°C with agitation of 150 rpm.

In order to see if there is a relation between the biomass produced by the isolates and the concentration of naphthalene in the media a series of comparative graphs were design (Figure 14). Overall, the positive control *A. flavus* had the highest biomass with 12.03 mg after 20 days of incubation, but from La Parguera isolates *P. lilacinum* (RmPL 5-1e-2) had the highest biomass with 7.13 mg. *Phoma* sp. (RmPL 4-1-2) followed with 3.26 mg and the lowest was *A. caelatus* (IRmPL 5) with 2.53 mg after 20 days of incubation. The lowest concentration of naphthalene left in the media was observed in presence of *A. caelatus* (I RmPL 5) with 0.2410 mg/ml.

Based on the desirability model (Figure 15), *P. lilacinum* (RmPL 5-1e-2) was considered to be the best option in terms of producing a high biomass and lowering the concentration of naphthalene in the medium. It shows that *P. lilacinum* (RmPL 5-1e-2), has a desirability of 0.838. By day 15 it produces a biomass of 184.31 mg and lowers the concentration of naphthalene in the medium to 1.31 mg/ml.



Figure 15. Concentration of naphthalene left in the media in relation with the biomass produce by the isolates. Graphs A-D show the concentration of naphthalene left in the media in relation with the biomass produced of each isolate from La Parguera while growing in basal media with naphthalene or glucose. *P. lilacinum* RmPL 5-1e-2 (A), *Phoma* sp. RmPL 4-1-2 (B), *A. caelatus* IRmPL 5 (C), *A. flavus* (positive control) (D), *Trametes* sp. (positive control) (E), and *E. coli* (negative control) (F).



Figure 16. Desirability model arranged in Design Expert® of La Parguera, Lajas isolates. This model shows that *P. lilacinum* RmPL 5-1e-2, was the isolate that showed the best results in terms of producing a high biomass, lowering the concentration of naphthalene in the medium from LP samples.

3.4 Lignolytic enzyme activity

To determine if selected isolates were producing lignolytic enzymes to degrade the xenobiotics from the medium, assays for laccase (Lac) and manganese peroxidase (MnP) activities were done. Also, to detect the presence or absence of the lignin peroxidase (LiP) a colorimetric assay was done using methylene blue. The total protein concentration in the supernatant for each isolate was also measured by Lowry method. The assays were done for isolates grown in both xenobiotics, Congo Red and naphthalene. The objective was to determine if the xenobiotics were inducing the lignolytic enzymes responsible for the lignin degradation pathway. Results include the concentration in the supernatant of the enzymes produced by the selected isolates. The results are presented by fungal isolate growing in different carbon source in order to compare whether or not CR and napthalene are able of inducing the production of these enzymes. The results presented are based on the desirability models of each of the previous experiments. The results presented in this section for the isolates from Bahía Salinas are for P. citrinum (RmBS 2-1-1) and F. solani (RmBS 3). According to the desirability model P. citrinum (RmBS 2-1-1) growing in BM with CR and F. solani (RmBS 3) growing in BM with naphthalene were the isolates that produced a high biomass and decreased the most the concentration of the carbon source in the media. From La Parguera, Lajas isoaltes results are shown for A. caelatus (IRmPL 5) growing in BM with CR and for P. lilacinum (RmPL 5-1e-2). Results for isolates P. lilacinum (RmBS 1-2b) and Phoma sp. (RmPL 4-1-2) are in the appendix (Appendix 3.1, 3.2, 3.3). The concentration for both laccase and Mn peroxidase reported is the concentration of the end product of the enzymatic reactions. A high concentration equals a high enzymatic activity.

The results of each isolate are presented along with the positive control *Trametes* sp. and *E. coli*. Results for enzymatic concentration in BM with glucose for *E. coli* are the only ones shown because there was no growth in BM with CR or naphthalene. The positive control, *Trametes* sp, has a high total protein concentration, but low or no activity of laccase and Mn peroxidase (Figure 16, B1) except for day 20 where a low activity (3 mg/ml) was detected. *Trametes* sp. when grown in BM with CR (Figure 16, B2) or naphthalene (Figure 16, B3) has different activity levels of laccase and Mn peroxidase, an expected behavior in a well-known lignolytic fungus.

3.4.1 Samples from Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo

Penicillium citrinum (RmBS 2-1-1) growing in BM with CR showed a high activity level of laccase of 24.18 mg/ml by day 5 then it starts to decrease, while levels of Mn peroxidase remaind low until day 20 when they increased to 6.66 mg/ml. This correlates with the percentage of decolorization results by day 5 in BM with CR when the fungus reached 99.2 % of decolorization. This observation might indicate that laccases are the first enzymes to act upon the process of absorbing/removing the dye from the media. Later in the process other enzymes keep acting upon the compound residues left in the media.

In comparison, *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1) growing in BM with naphthalene showed consistently low levels of both laccase and Mn peroxidase from day 5 to day 15 and then in day 20 a spike in the activity levels of both enzymes was observed, which was also reflected also in the total protein concentration. In this case, naphthalene promotes the production of both enzymes, but they might need more time to start acting upon the compounds.



Figure 17. Enzymatic activity and total protein concentration of *P. citrinum* (**RmBS 2-1-1**). The graph shows total protein concentration, laccase, and Mn peroxidase activity in the supernatant. The isolates in the graphs are *P. citrinum* RmBS 2-1-2(A), *Trametes* sp., positive control (B), and *E. coli*, negative control (C). The 3 microorganims are growing in basal media with different carbon and energy source: glucose (1), Congo Red (2), and naphthalene (3).

F. solani (RmBS 3) growing in BM with naphthalene showed the best ability to produce a high biomass and having a low naphthalene concentration in the media. High concentrations of laccase assay end product are observed, which means there is high enzyme activity. Values range between 13.3 - 47.17 mg/ml (Figure 17, A3). The highest level was seen by day 15 with 47.17 mg/ml. Mn peroxidase activity iswas also observed. The concentrations of end product of the enzymatic reaction were lower than the laccase assay. Values range between 6.94-10.0mg/ml. The highest activity is observed by day 10 with 10.0 mg/ml.

On the other hand, when growing in BM with CR the concentrations of the end products for both laccase and Mn peroxidase assay are lower than when growing with naphthalene (Figure 17, A2). For the laccase assay values range between 0.84 - 7.76 mg/ml, while Mn peroxidase assay values range between 1.6 - 15.6 mg/ml.



Figure 18. Enzymatic activity and total protein concentration of *F. solani* (**RmBS 3**). The graph shows total protein concentration, laccase, and Mn peroxidase activity in the supernatant. The isolates in this graphs are *F. solani* RmBS 3 (A), *Trametes* sp., positive control (B), and *E. coli*, negative control (C). The 3 microorganims are growing in basal media with different carbon and energy source: glucose (1), Congo Red (2), and naphthalene (3).

3.4.2 Samples from La Parguera, Lajas

According to the desirability model, *A. caelatus* (IRmPL 5) was the isolate from la LP, when grown in BM with CR, which yielded a high biomass and low concentration of CR in the media. Laccase and Mn peroxidase assays, for both CR and naphthalene, showed concentrations of the reactions end product meaning there is enzymatic activity. *A. caelatus* (IRmPL 5) growing in BM with glucose shows no concentration of the laccase assay and is not until day 20 in the Mn peroxidase assay that a concentration 0f 18.5 mg/ml is seen (Figure 18, A1). For the laccase assay, high concentration were observed between 8- 28.1 mg/ml of end product, which also means there was a high activity of laccase in the supernatant (Figure 18, A2). Mn peroxidase assay end product concentration values range between 6.2-41.2 mg/ml.

Also when looking at the concentration yield when grown in BM with naphthalene there were also high values for the laccase assay end product. Values ranging between 10.8-44.7 mg/ml, the highest was observed on day 5 (Figure 18, A3).



Figure 19. Enzymatic activity and total protein concentration of *A. caelatus* (**IRmPL 5**). The graph shows total protein concentration, laccase, and Mn peroxidase activity in the supernatant. Is *A. caelatus* (**IRmPL 5**) (A), is *Trametes* sp., positive control (B), and *E. coli*, negative control (C). The 3 microorganims are growing in basal media with different carbon and energy source: glucose (1), Congo Red (2), and naphthalene (3).

P. lilacinum IRmPL 5 growing in BM with glucose (Figure 1, A1) shows no activity levels of laccase or Mn peroxidase, but it shows different concentrations of total proteins during the 20 days. This isolate is producing other proteins, but not the lignolytic enzymes. On the other hand, when *P. lilacinum* IRmPL 5-1e-2 is growing in BM with Congo Red or naphthalene the activities of laccase and Mn peroxidase are observed. When *P. lilacinum* IRmPL 5-1e-2 is growing in BM with CR the activity levels of laccase are lower than the levels of Mn peroxidase. The highest activity level of laccase was 16 mg/ml by day 15 while the highest level of Mn peroxidase was 26 mg/ml by day 10. However, when *P. lilacinum* IRmPL5-1e-2 is growing in BM with naphthalene the activity levels of laccase were higher that the Mn peroxidase. The lowest concentration level was observed by day 10. The activity levels of Mn peroxidase were lower than the laccase levels ranging from 5.66 mg/ml to 11.57 mg/ml, this last one on day 10.



Figure 20. Enzymatic activity and total protein concentration of *P. lilacinum* (RmPL 5-1e-2). The graph shows total protein concentration, laccase, and Mn peroxidase activity in the supernatant. (A) Is *P. lilacinum* (RmPL 5-1e-2), (B) is *Trametes* sp., positive control, and (C) *E. coli*, negative control. The 3 microorganims are growing in basal media with different carbon and energy source: (1) glucose, (2) Congo Red, and (3) naphthalene.

For the lignin peroxidase (LiP) assay, methylene blue was used as substrate and the percentage of decolorization of the reaction is measured at 650 nm. Low percentages represent low levels of lignin peroxidase activity in the supernatant. Experimental samples and controls presented low decolorization percentages of supernatant from BM with glucose (Figure 20, A), which means there is little or no activity of LiP in the medium. Negative control *E. coli* did not show any reaction to lignin peroxidase assay in any of the carbon sources under study.

P. citrinum (RmBS 2-1-1) growing in BM with naphthalene showed low decolorization percentages between 3-7% (Figure 20 A), meaning there was low activity of this enzyme. Meanwhile, *Penicillium citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1) growing in BM with CR showed around 35% of decolorization on day 15 (Figure 20 A), this being the highest value observed.

F. solani (RmBS 3) showed higher decolorization percentages in BM with naphthalene (5-15%) than in BM with CR (1-5%) (Figure 20B). Higher activity of LiP was observed when grown in BM with CR than wit naphthalene. Meanwhile, *Aspergillus caelatus* (IRmPL 5) growing in BM with CR had decolorization percentages between 2.5-7%, whereas in BM with naphthalene values go from 2-6% and by day 20 it spiked to 15%.

Purpureocillium lilacinum (IRmPL 5-1e-2) (Figure 20D) showed the highest percentage of decolorization between 20-50% while growing in BM with glucose. When growing in BM with CR decolorization percentages ranged between 3-18% and when growing in BM with naphthalene percentages ranged between 8-13%. In contrast to the positive control, *Trametes* sp, the isolates decolorization percentages were low.

None of the samples showed higher than 40% of decolorization indicating that LiP is somewhat induced by the carbon sources but in low levels. Overall, we have observed enzymatic activity by the the fungal isolates when growing in Congo Red or naphthalene.



Figure 21. LiP assay with methylene blue decolorization percentages. The figure shows a series of bar graphs illustrating decolorization percentages in the LiP assay using methylene blue as substrate. The assay was done for samples *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1) (A), *F. solani* (RmBS3) (B), *A. caelatus* (IRmPL 5) (C), and *P. lilacinum* (RmPL 5-1e-2). The assay was also done for positive control *Trametes* sp. (E) and negative control *E. coli* (not shown).

4 Discussion

Most fungal research in mangrove ecosystems in Puerto Rico has mainly focused on characterization and diversity of species. The main objective of this study was to establish the ability of some fungal isolates from *Rhizophora mangrove* wood to use other carbon and energy sources, especially xenobiotic such as Congo Red or naphthalene through the lignin degradation pathway. Since lignolytic enzymes have low substrate specificity, compounds with similar structure to lignin might induce the production of such enzymes. Nineteen out of the twenty studied isolates were Ascomycetes. Normally, when talking about lignin degradation the first thought is about Basidiomycetes, which are well known for having this ability. It follows that not only Basidiomycetes have this ability, but fungi from other phyla can also degrade lignin because they can also produce lignolytic enzymes.

From Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates of *Purpureocillium lilacinum*, *Penicillium citrinum*, and *Fusarium solani* were selected. From La Parguera, Lajas isolates of *Purpureocillium lilacinum*, *Phoma* sp, and *Aspergillus caelatus* were selected. The six isolate species have previously been reported from mangrove ecosystems (Suryanarayanan et al. 1998, Ananda and Sridhar 2002, Wu et al. 2010, 2015, Garzoli et al. 2015). Most of the species have lignolytic abilities previously reported (Kumari et al. 2002, Wu et al. 2010, Junior et al. 2012), except for *Aspergillus caelatus* and *Purpureocillium lilacinum*. These six isolates were selected due to their ability of decolorizing BM with Congo Red compared with the other isolates. Samples from Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo by day 10 had reached decolorization percentages between 87- 100%. This shows that all of the isolates from this site have a high capability of using Congo Red as their only carbon and energy source. Samples from La Parguera, Lajas ranged between 21-70%

of medium decolorization for the same period of incubation. The isolates from this site were slower in decolorizing the BM with Congo Red.

When the isolates were growing in BM with CR instead of presenting their normal mycelia color, isolates grew with a red color like the medium. Studies with *Penicillium* use Congo Red as a marker to detect the production of cellulases and xylanases (Sazci et al. 1986, Picart et al. 2007) because of its high affinity for polysaccharides. This can explain why the change in color of the isolates. Since Congo Red has a high affinity to polysaccharides it might be attaching to these compounds (Sazci et al. 1986, Picart et al. 2007).

Previous studies have reported other *Penicillium* species (e.g. *P. chrysogenum* and *P. oxalicum*) as being able to degrade Congo Red from culture media (Bhattacharya et al. 2011, Saroj et al. 2014). Even though only a few *Penicillium* species have been described as being able to degrade azo dyes, others have also been reported to possess a lignin-degrading system (Torres et al., Leitão 2009, Saroj et al. 2014). These enzymes play an important role in hydrolyzing plant cell wall. Most lignolytic fungi show high levels of these enzymes before lignin transformation (Leitão 2009). *Penicillium citrinum* is also found associated to red algae *Actinotrichia fragilis*, known for producing Citrinadin A, an alkaloid anti-cancer compound (Tsuda et al. 2004, Raghukumar 2008), therefore is considered to be common in marine environments such as mangroves.

In the same way, when evaluating the three selected isolates from La Parguera, Lajas, *Aspergillus caelatus* (IRmPL 5) showed the highest biomass when growing in BM with Congo Red of 44. 88 mg, with a decolorization of 97.52% and a concentration of 0.0057 mg/ml of Congo Red left in the medium by day 20. To our knowledge, there are no previous report about

Aspergillus caelatus being able to use Congo Red as its only carbon energy source and promoting lignolytic activity while growing in this source.

Phoma sp. has been reported previously to be found in marine environments (Suryanarayanan et al. 1998, Alias and Jones 2000, Ananda and Sridhar 2002), also it has previously been used in bioreactors to treat textile dye, and proven to be very effective (Junghanns et al. 2012). Torres et al (2011) reported partial degradation of Congo Red by *Phoma* sp. It is also known for producing thiodiketopiperazines (TDKPs), which can function as antiproliferatives, cytotoxic, antibacterial, and histone methyltransferase inhibitors (Kong et al. 2014).

To further study the capability of these isolates to use a different carbon and energy sources other than lignin, the six isolates were tested in an experiment using naphthalene as their only carbon and energy source. In this case for samples of Bahía Salinas growing in BM with naphthalene, *Fusarium solani* produced a higher biomass of 27.33 mg and lower the concentration of naphthalene in the medium to 0.0522 mg/ml by day 20. This result agrees with other reports where *F. solani* is shown to degrade PAHs more complex than naphthalene such as benzoαpyrene (Rafin et al. 2000, Li et al. 2008, Peng et al. 2008, Thion et al. 2012, Olajire and Essien 2014). *Purpureocillium lilacinum* showed to produce the highest biomass (184.31 mg) and lowering the concentration of naphthalene to 1.31 mg/ml after 15 days. *Purpureocillium lilacinum* is an entomopathogen used in biocontrol of agricultural pests, but is also an opportunistic agent of medical importance to humans since it can infect immune compromised patients (Luangsa-Ard et al. 2011, Castillo Lopez et al. 2014). There is little or no information about this species being able of degrading xenobiotics. To our knowledge, this might be the first report of *Purpureocillium lilacinum* being able to use naphthalene as its only carbon and energy
source. The biomass produced by *P. lilacinum* is much higher than the biomass produced by *F. solani* by day 15, but the concentration of naphthalene in the medium is not as low as with *F. solani*. In this case, naphthalene is a better carbon source for *P. lilacinum* resulting in biomass production, but *F. solani* is a better degrader of the xenobiotic.

Penicillium citrinum (RmBS 2-1-1) and *Aspergillus caelatus* (IRmPL5) growing in BM with Congo Red, as well as *Fusarium solani* (RmBS 3) and *P. lilacinum* (IRmPL 5-1e-2) growing in BM with naphthalene were the leading isolates in these experiments. In order to get the best results, meaning a high biomass and low concentration of xenobiotics, these four isolates are the best choices.

It seems that laccases are the primary enzymes to act in the process of removal/degradation of the xenobiotics. In both cases, *P. citrinum* (RmBS 2-1-1) growing in CR and *P. lilacinum* (IRmPL 5-1e-2) growing in naphthalene, higher concentration of laccase was observed during the first days and approaching day 20 the concentrations started to decrease while the concentration of the other enzymes started to increase. Laccases act first on the oxidation/cleavage of phenolic lignin units because they have a low redox potential compared to the lignolytic peroxidases (Martínez et al. 2005).

Interestingly, *P. lilacinum* (IRmPL 5-1e-2) from La Parguera, Lajas had a better performance growing in BM with naphthalene than *P. lilacinum* (RmBS 1-2b) which was isolated from Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo. Most of the microbial consortia found in mangrove environments can be comparable between sites but their abilities can change depending on nutrients, compounds and matter available for them to metabolize (Ewel et al. 1998, McKew et al. 2007, Dos Santos et al. 2011, Mendes and Tsai 2014). Even though samples were collected from two *Rhizophora mangle* areas, the environment surrounding them were different. From Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo

trees were found along the shore with some of their roots submerged in sea water while the other half was attached to the sand. In La Parguera, Lajas samples were collected from Rhizophora *mangle* trees offshore, more into the sea. Evidently, the matter and compounds the microbes have available in these two zones is different. Both P. lilacinum samples were able to grow in BM with naphthalene, but La Parguera sample IRmPL 5-1e-2 has better ability of using naphthalene as it carbon and energy source. This behavior might be due to the constant exposure microbes have in La Parguera to boat activity, meanwhile in the Bahía Salinas there is little or no boat activity. Due to oil spills that happened around this region approximately 50 years ago the capability to degraded PAHs is higher and similar, although many years have passed. Even though PAHs are highly persistent in the environment if there are microbial communities in this area with the ability to degrade them, the number of contaminants might have been reduced along the years. Today microbes are using other compounds and organic matter readily available to them, suggesting that the newer communities are not adapted to using PAHs as their carbon and energy, but they do have the ability to induce the enzymes in their presence. On the other hand, samples from La Parguera are more expose to PAHs because of the boat activity in these area.

Knowing that these isolates possess the capability of using xenobiotics such as Congo Red or naphthalene as only carbon and energy source, they can be used as bioremediadors in polluted mangrove ecosystems. *Aspergillus caelatus* would be a good choice of an isolate to be use as a bioaugmentator.

5 Recommendations

To validate the ability of the fungal isolates screened in this study to use xenobiotics as carbon and energy source, the following suggestions are made.

- The fungal isolates should be tested with PAHs of higher molecular weight to prove their capability to degrade more complex molecules.
- Measure the amount of Congo Red and naphthalene that is mineralized/absorbed by the isolate and the residues left in the media. The remaining PAHs or derivative compounds of the initial contaminant will have to be extracted and to determine the mixture of residue compounds high-pressure liquid chromatography analysis should be performed.

6 Conclusions

In this study, we have presented the capability of some fungal isolates from *Rhizophora mangle* wood to use Congo Red or naphthalene as their only carbon and energy source. Also, the ability to promote lignolytic enzyme activity by these other two compounds was measure.

- 1. Mangrove possess a bigger diversity than expected of fungi capable of degrading xenobiotics.
- 2. To our knowledge *A. caelatus* and *P. lilacinum* have not been previously report to having xenobiotic degradation capabilities.
- The selected four fungal isolates based on their performance would be a good choice for bioremediation studies.
- 4. They could be biostimulated or bioaugmented in the environment.

7 References

Acevedo Ríos CT. 1987. Hongos marinos de arena, madera y mangle de La Parguera, Puerto Rico. Master in Science. University of Puerto Mayagüez Campus.

Alias SA, Jones EBG. 2000. Vertical distribution of marine fungi on *Rhizophora apiculata* at Morib mangrove, Selangor, Malaysia. Mycoscience. 41:431–436, doi:10.1007/BF02461661.

Ananda K, Sridhar KR. 2002. Diversity of endophytic fungi in the roots of mangrove species on the west coast of India. Can J Microbiol. 48:871–878, doi:10.1139/w02-080.

Atagana HI. 2009. Biodegradation of PAHs by fungi in contaminated-soil containing cadmium and nickel ions. African J Biotechnol. 8:5780–5789.

Bamforth SM, Singleton I. 2005. Bioremediation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: current knowledge and future directions. J Chem Technol Biotechnol. 80:723–736, doi:10.1002/jctb.1276.

Bello Magalhaes D, Andrade de Carvalho M, Bon E, Araújo Neto JS, Hélio Kling S. 1996. Colorimetric assay for lignin peroxidase activity determination using methylene blue substrate. Biotechnol Tech. 10:273–276.

Bhattacharya S, Das A, Mangai G, Vignesh K, Sangeetha J. 2011. Mycoremediation of Congo red dye by filamentous fungi. Brazilian J Microbiol. 42:1526–1536, doi:10.1590/S1517-83822011000400040.

Bourbonnais R, Paice MG, Reid ID, Lanthier P, Yaguchi M. 1995. Lignin oxidation by laccase isozymes from *Trametes versicolor* and role of the mediator 2, 2'-azinobis (3-ethylbenzthiazoline-6-sulfonate) in kraft lignin depolymerization. Appl Environ Microbiol. 61:1876–1880.

Castillo Lopez D, Zhu-Salzman K, Ek-Ramos MJ, Sword GA. 2014. The entomopathogenic fungal endophytes *Purpureocillium lilacinum* (formerly *Paecilomyces lilacinus*) and *Beauveria bassiana* negatively affect cotton aphid reproduction under both greenhouse and field conditions. PLoS One. 9:e103891, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0103891.

Corredor JE, Morell JM, Bauza J. 1999. Atmospheric nitrous oxide fluxes from mangrove sediments. Mar Pollut Bull. 38:473–478.

Corredor JE, Morell JM, Castillo CE Del. 1990. Persistence of spilled crude oil in a tropical intertidal environment. Mar Pollut Bull. 21:385–388, doi:10.1016/0025-326X(90)90647-Q.

Čvančarová M, Křesinová Z, Filipová A, Covino S, Cajthaml T. 2012. Biodegradation of PCBs by ligninolytic fungi and characterization of the degradation products. Chemosphere. 88:1317–1323, doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.03.107.

Dubilier N, Bergin C, Lott C. 2008. Symbiotic diversity in marine animals: the art of harnessing

chemosynthesis. Nat Rev Microbiol. 6:725-740, doi:10.1038/nrmicro1992.

Department of Natural and Environmental Resources. 2009. Los Manglares. Hojas Nuestro Ambient. 037:2.

Ewel KC, Twilley RR, Ong JE. 1998. Different kinds of mangrove forests provide different goods and services. Glob Ecol Biogeogr Lett. 7:83–94, doi:10.2307/2997700.

Fallis A. 2013. United States and Commonwealth of Puerto Rico vs GMR Progress LLC and General Maritime Management.

Garzoli L, Gnavi G, Tamma F, Tosi S, Varese GC, Picco AM. 2015. Sink or swim: Updated knowledge on marine fungi associated with wood substrates in the Mediterranean Sea and hints about their potential to remediate hydrocarbons. Prog Oceanogr. 137:140–148, doi:10.1016/j.pocean.2015.05.028.

Glenn JK, Gold MH. 1985. Purification and characterization of an extracellular Mn(II)dependent peroxidase from the lignin-degrading basidiomycete, *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*. Arch Biochem Biophys. 242:329–341, doi:10.1016/0003-9861(85)90217-6.

Haritash AK, Kaushik CP. 2009. Biodegradation aspects of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs): A review. J Hazard Mater. 169:1–15, doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.03.137.

Hoff RZ, Michel J. 2014. Oil spills in mangroves: planning & response considerations. U.S. Department of Commerce NOAA. 96 p.

Hyde KD. 1991. Fungal colonization of *Rhizophora apiculata* and *Xylocarpus granatum* poles in Kampong Kapok mangrove, Brunei. Sydowia. 43:31–38.

International Agency for Research on Cancer. 1983. Polynuclear aromatic compounds, part 1: chemical, environmental and experimental data. [Lyon, France]: International Agency for Research on Cancer. 483 p.

Junghanns C, Neumann JF, Schlosser D. 2012. Application of the aquatic fungus *Phoma* sp. (DSM22425) in bioreactors for the treatment of textile dye model effluents. J Chem Technol Biotechnol. 87:1276–1283, doi:10.1002/jctb.3797.

Junior NL, Gern RMM, Furlan SA, Schlosser D. 2012. Laccase production by the aquatic ascomycete *Phoma* sp. UHH 5-1-03 and the white rot basidiomycete *Pleurotus ostreatus* dsm 1833 during submerged cultivation on banana peels and enzyme applicability for the removal of endocrine-disrupting chemicals. Appl Biochem Biotechnol. 167:1144–1156, doi:10.1007/s12010-012-9601-3.

Kirk TK, Farrell RL. 1987. Enzymatic" combustion": the microbial degradation of lignin. Annu Rev Microbiol. 41:465–501.

Klekowski EJ, Corredor JE, Morell JM, Castillo CA Del. 1994. Petroleum pollution and mutation in mangroves. Mar Pollut Bull. 28:166–169, doi:10.1016/0025-326X(94)90393-X.

Kohlmeyer J, Kohlmeyer E. 1979. Marine mycology. The higher fungi. 690 p.

Kong F, Wang Y, Liu P, Dong T, Zhu W. 2014. Thiodiketopiperazines from the marine-derived fungus *Phoma* sp. OUCMDZ-1847. J Nat Prod. 77:132–137, doi:10.1021/np400802d.

Kristensen E, Bouillon S, Dittmar T, Marchand C. 2008. Organic carbon dynamics in mangrove ecosystems: A review. Aquat Bot. 89:201–219, doi:10.1016/j.aquabot.2007.12.005.

Kumari M, Yadav RSS, Yadav SK. 2002. Secretion of lignin peroxidase by *Penicillium citrinum*, *Fusarium oxysporum* and *Asperguillus terreus*. Indian J Exp Biol. 40:802–806.

Kuwahara M, Glenn JK, Morgan MA, Gold MH. 1984. Separation and characterization of two extracellular H2O2-dependent oxidases from ligninolytic cultures of *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*. FEBS. 169:247–250.

Lacerda LD. 1993. Conservation and sustainable utilization of mangrove forests in Latin America and Africa regions. Mangrove Ecosyst ITTO/ISME. 2:272pp.

Laurent MCZ, Gros O, Brulport J-P, Gaill F, Bris N Le. 2009. Sunken wood habitat for thiotrophic symbiosis in mangrove swamps. Mar Environ Res. 67:83–88, doi:10.1016/j.marenvres.2008.11.006.

Leitão AL. 2009. Potential of *Penicillium* species in the bioremediation field. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 6:1393–1417, doi:10.3390/ijerph6041393.

Li X, Li P, Lin X, Zhang C, Li Q, Gong Z. 2008. Biodegradation of aged polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) by microbial consortia in soil and slurry phases. J Hazard Mater. 150:21–26, doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.04.040.

Luangsa-Ard J, Houbraken J, Doorn T van, Hong SB, Borman AM, Hywel-Jones NL, Samson RA. 2011. *Purpureocillium*, a new genus for the medically important *Paecilomyces lilacinus*. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 321:141–149, doi:10.1111/j.1574-6968.2011.02322.x.

Lugo AE. 2002. Conserving Latin American and Caribbean Mangroves: Issues and Challenges. Madera Y Bosques. 8:5–25.

Madavasamy S, Paneerselvam A. 2012. Isolation, identification of fungi from *Avicinnia marina* Muthupet mangroves Thiruvarur Dt. Asian J Plant Sci Res. 2:452–459.

Martínez AT, Speranza M, Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Ferreira P, Camarero S, Guillén F, Martínez MJ, Gutiérrez A, Río JC Del. 2005. Biodegradation of lignocellulosics: Microbial, chemical, and enzymatic aspects of the fungal attack of lignin. Int Microbiol. 8:195–204, doi:im2305029 [pii].

Martinuzzi S, Gould WA, Lugo AE, Medina E. 2009. Conversion and recovery of Puerto Rican mangroves: 200 years of change. For Ecol Manage. 257:75–84, doi:10.1016/j.foreco.2008.08.037.

McKew BA, Coulon F, Osborn AM, Timmis KN, McGenity TJ. 2007. Determining the identity and roles of oil-metabolizing marine bacteria from the Thames estuary, UK. Environ Microbiol.

9:165–176, doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920.2006.01125.x.

Mendes LW, Tsai SM. 2014. Variations of bacterial community structure and composition in mangrove sediment at different depths in Southeastern Brazil. Diversity. 6:827–843, doi:10.3390/d6040827.

Mendonça Maciel MJ, Castro e Silva A, Telles Ribeiro HC. 2010. Industrial and biotechnological applications of ligninolytic enzymes of the basidiomycota: a review. Electron J Biotechnol. 13:0–0, doi:10.2225/vol13-issue6-fulltext-2.

Mrozik A, Piotrowska-Seget Z. 2010. Bioaugmentation as a strategy for cleaning up of soils contaminated with aromatic compounds. Microbiol Res. 165:363–375, doi:10.1016/j.micres.2009.08.001.

Mueller UG, Rehner SA, Schultz TR. 1998. The Evolution of Agriculture in Ants. Science (80). 281:2031–2034.

Nambiar GR, Raveendran K. 2008. Marine and maglicolous fungal diversity in the coastal wetlands of Kerala. Seaweed Res Util. 30:107–111.

Nambiar GR, Raveendran K. 2009. Manglicolous marine fungi on Avicennia and Rhizophora along Kerala coast (India). Middle-East J Sci Res. 4:48–51.

NOAA. 2001. Toxicity of oil to reef-building corals: A spill response perspective. Seattle, Washington.

Olajire AA, Essien JP. 2014. Aerobic Degradation of Petroleum Components by Microbial Consortia. J Pet Environ Biotechnol. 5:1–22, doi:10.4172/2157-7463.1000195.

Olguín EJ, Hernández ME, Sánchez-Galván G. 2007. Contaminación de manglares por hidrocarburos y estrategias de biorremediación, fitorremediación y restauración. Rev Int Contam Ambient. 23:139–154.

Peng RH, Xiong AS, Xue Y, Fu XY, Gao F, Zhao W, Tian YS, Yao QH. 2008. Microbial biodegradation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 32:927–955, doi:10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00127.x.

Picart P, Diaz P, Pastor FIJ. 2007. Cellulases from two *Penicillium* sp. strains isolated from subtropical forest soil: Production and characterization. Lett Appl Microbiol. 45:108–113, doi:10.1111/j.1472-765X.2007.02148.x.

Pozdnyakova NN. 2012. Involvement of the ligninolytic system of white-rot and litterdecomposing fungi in the degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons. Biotechnol Res Int. 2012:1–20, doi:10.1155/2012/243217.

Rafin C, Potin O, Veignie E, Lounes-Hadj Sahraoui A, Sancholle M. 2000. Degradation of benzo[a]pyrene as sole carbon source by a non white rot fungus, *Fusarium solani*. Polycycl Aromat Compd. 21:311–329, doi:10.1080/10406630008028542.

Raghukumar C. 2008. Marine fungal biotechnology: an ecological perspective. Fungal Divers. 31:19–35.

Ranjan RK, Routh J, Ramanathan AL, Val Klump J. 2012. Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon fingerprints in the Pichavaram mangrove–estuarine sediments, southeastern India. Org Geochem. 53:88–94, doi:10.1016/j.orggeochem.2012.08.007.

Ruiz-Dueñas FJ, Martínez ÁT. 2009. Microbial degradation of lignin: how a bulky recalcitrant polymer is efficiently recycled in nature and how we can take advantage of this. Microb Biotechnol. 2:164–177, doi:10.1111/j.1751-7915.2008.00078.x.

Sahoo K, Dhal NK. 2009. Potential microbial diversity in mangrove ecosystems: a review. Indian J Mar Sci. 38:249.

Santos HF Dos, Cury JC, Carmo FL do, Santos AL Dos, Tiedje J, Elsas JD van, Rosado AS, Peixoto RS. 2011. Mangrove bacterial diversity and the impact of oil contamination revealed by pyrosequencing: Bacterial proxies for oil pollution. PLoS One. 6:1–8, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0016943.

Sarma VV, Hyde KD. 2001. A review of frquently ocurring fungi in mangroves. Fungal Divers. 8:1–4.

Saroj S, Kumar K, Pareek N, Prasad R, Singh RP. 2014. Biodegradation of azo dyes Acid Red 183, Direct Blue 15 and Direct Red 75 by the isolate Penicillium oxalicum SAR-3. Chemosphere. 107:240–248, doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.12.049.

Sazci a, Radford a, Erenler K. 1986. Detection of cellulolytic fungi by using Congo Red as an indicator : a comparative study with the dinitrosalicyclic acid reagent method. J Appl Bacteriol. 9414:559–562, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.1986.tb01729.x.

Singh L, Singh VP. 2010. Biodegradation of Textile Dyes, Bromophenol Blue and Congo Red by Fungus Aspergillus Flavus. Environ We, An Int J Sci Technol. 7112:235–242.

Suryanarayanan TS, Kumaresan V, Johnson JA. 1998. Foliar fungal endophytes from two species of the mangrove Rhizophora. Can J Microbioll. 44:1003–1006, doi:10.1139/cjm-44-10-1003.

Szewczyńska M, Pośniak M, Dobrzyńska E, Pyrzyńska K, Baraniecka J. 2013. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons Distribution in Fine and Ultrafine Particles Emitted from Diesel Engines. Polish J Environ Stud. 22p.

Thion C, Cébron A, Beguiristain T, Leyval C. 2012. PAH biotransformation and sorption by *Fusarium solani* and *Arthrobacter oxydans* isolated from a polluted soil in axenic cultures and mixed co-cultures. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad. 68:28–35, doi:10.1016/j.ibiod.2011.10.012.

Torres JMO, Cardenas C V., Moron LS, Guzman APA, de la Cruz TEE. 2009. Dye decolorization Activities of Marine-Derived Fungi Isolated from Manila Bay and Calatagan Bay, Philippines. Philippine Journal of Science. 2:133-143.

Tsuda M, Kasai Y, Komatsu K, Sone T, Tanaka M, Mikami Y, Kobayashi J. 2004. Citrinadin A, a novel pentacyclic alkaloid from marine-derived fungus *Penicillium citrinum*. Org Lett. 6:3087–3089, doi:10.1021/ol048900y.

United States Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Emergency and Remedial Response US, Evironmental Protection Agency, Emergency Response Division. 1993. Understanding oil spills and oil spill response. 47 p.

US Department of Commerce NOAA. 2014. What is a mangrove forest?<oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/mangroves.html>

US Department of Health and Human Services. 1995. Toxical profile for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry. 487p.

US EPA, OSWER O of RC and R. 2008. Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs) Fact Sheet. 2p.

US EPA O. 2015. Mangrove Swamps.<www.epe.gov/wetlands/mangrove-swamps>

Vo TL, Mueller UG, Mikheyev AS. 2009. Free-living fungal symbionts (Lepiotaceae) of fungusgrowing ants (Attini: Formicidae). Mycologia. 101:206–210, doi:10.3852/07-055.

White TJ, Bruns S, Lee S, Taylor J. 1990. Amplification and direct sequencing of fungal ribosomal RNA genes for phylogenetics. PCR Protocol: A Guide to Methods Appl. 315–322, doi:citeulike-article-id:671166.

Włodarczyk-Makuła M. 2012. Half-Life of Carcinogenic Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Stored Sewage Sludge. Arch Environ Prot. 38, doi:10.2478/v10265-012-0016-6.

Wu YR, Luo ZH, Vrijmoed LLP. 2010. Biodegradation of anthracene and benz[a]anthracene by two *Fusarium solani* strains isolated from mangrove sediments. Bioresour Technol. 101:9666–9672, doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.07.049.

Wu YZ, Qiao F, Xu GW, Zhao J, Teng JF, Li C, Deng WJ. 2015. Neuroprotective metabolites from the endophytic fungus *Penicillium citrinum* of the mangrove *Bruguiera gymnorrhiza*. Phytochem Lett. 12:148–152, doi:10.1016/j.phytol.2015.03.007.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Table of raw sequences from the 20 isolates.

Appendix 1.1 Sequences of isolates from Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates.

Fungal isolate code	Similar to	Sequence
RmBS1	Purpureocillium lilacinum	ctactgatcgaggtcactctaagaagttgggcgttttacggcgtgaccgcctccgcgctccggtgcgaggtg tgtgctactacgcaggggaggctgcggcgggggcgcacwgcatttcgggggggggg
RmBS 1-2b	Purpureocillium lilacinum	tactgatcgaggtcactctaagaagttgggcgttttacggcgtgaccgcctccgcgctccggtgcgaggtgt gtgctactacgcagggggggctgcggggggtcgccactgcattccgggggggg
RmBS 2	Aspergillus micronesiensis	aggtcacctgaaaaaaggatgatctgcgtgggctggcgcgggccgggcctacagagcgggtgacaaagcccc atacgctcgaggaccgggcggtgccgccgctgcctttcggggccgggggggg
RmBS 2-1-1	Penicillium citrinum	tccgaggtcacctgagataattaaaggttgggggtcggctggcgccggccg

Appendix 1.1 (cont.)

		cggggcccaacacacaagccgggcttgagggcagcaatgacgctcggacaggcatgccctccggaataccag agggcgcaatgtgcgttcaaagactcgatgattcactgaattctgcaattcacattagttatcgcatttcgc tgcgttcttcatcgatgccggaaccaagagatccgttgttgaaagttttaactaatttcgttataggtctca gactgcaacttcagacagcgttcaggggggccgtcggcgggggcgcgggggcccgcgaggcaacataggttcgg gcaacacgggtgggaggttgggccccgaggggcccgcactcggtaatgatccttccgcaggttcacctacgg aaaccttgttacgatttt
RmBS 3	Fusarium solani	acctgattcgaggtcacttcagaagagttgggtgttttacggcgtggccgcgccgctctccagtcgcgaggt gttagctactacgcgatggaagctgcggcggggccgcactgtatttgggggacggcgtgtgcccacagaga ggctccgccgatccccaacgccaggcccgggggcctgagggttgtaatgacgctcgaacaggcatgcccgcc agaatactggcgggggcgcaatgtgcgttcaaagattcgatgattcactgaattctgcaattcacattacttat cgcatttcgctgcgttcttcatcgatgccagaggccaaggagtccgtgggggggg
Rm BS 5	Purpureocillium lilacinum	ggcggggtcgccactgcatttcgggggcggctggtgtgccgtcccccaacaccgaggcccccgggggggctc gagggttgaaatgacgctcgaacaggcatgcccgccagaatgctggcgggcg
RmBS 5-1b	Penicillium griseofulvum	actgatcgaggtcacctgagataattaaaggttgggggtcggctggcgccggccg

Appendix 1.1 (cont.)

RmBS 6-1	Aspergillus terreus	cctgatccgaggtcacctggaaaaacaagttgcaaataaat
RmBS 10-1b	Aspergillus fumigatus	atgccccccggaataccgggggggcgcawtgtgsgttcaaagactcratgattcactgaattctg caattcacattacttatcgcatttcgctgcgttcttcatcgatgccsgaaccragagatccgkt gktgaaagttttmactgattactatwatcmactcasactgcwtactttyagaacmscsttcatg ttgggstcttcggcggggggggggggggggggggggg
RmBS 11	Aspergillus niger	tacctgatccgaggtcacctggaaaaatggttggaaaacgtcggcaggcgccggccaatcctac agagcatgtgacaaagccccatacgctcgaggatcggacgcgggtgccgccgctgcctttcgggc ccgtcccccggagaggggggacggcgacccaacacacaagccgggcttgagggcgcaatgacg ctcggacaggcatgccccccggaataccagggggcgcaatgtgcgttcaaagactcgatgattc actgaattctgcaattcacattagttatcgcatttcgctgcgttcttcatcgatgccggaacca agagatccattgttgaaagttttaactgattgcattcaatcaa

Appendix 1.2. Sequences of isolates from La Parguera, La
--

Fungal isolate code	Similar to	Sequence
RmPL 5-1e	Tritirachium oryzae	aaataagaatttggatttttttcaatccaattctgtattttttaaattcactaatgatccttccg cagttcacctacggaaaccttgttacgatttttwmytyccaagg
IIRmPL 2b	Hypocrea lixii	tgatccgaggtcacatttcagaagttgggtgtttaacggctgtggacgcgccgcgctcccgatgc gagtgtgcaaactactgcgcaggagaggctgcggcgagaccgccactgtatttcggagacggcca cccgctaagggagggccgatccccaacgccgacccccggaggggttcgagggttgaaatgacgc tcggacaggcatgcccgccagaatactggcgggggcaatgtgcgttcaaagattcgatgattcac tgaattctgcaattcacattacttatcgcatttcgctgcgttcttcatcgatgccagaaccaaga gatccgttgttgaaagttttgattcattttcgaaacgcctacgagagggggggg
RmPL5-1e-2	Purpureocillium lilacinum	gaaagttgggcgttttacggcgkgaccgcctccgcgctccggtgcgaggtgtgtgctactacsca rgggaggctgcggsgggggcccactgcatttcggggggggcggctggtggcgcccccaasascs aggcccccggggggggctcgagggttgaaatgacgctcgracasgcatgsccgccmgaatgctggc gggcgcaatgtgsgttcaaagattcsatgattcactgrattctgcaattcmcattacttatcgca tttcgctgcgttcttcatcgatgccagaaccaagagatccgttgttgaaagttktgawtcatttg tttttgcttgtgcaactcagagaagaaattmcgcccgctgggcggraggaggggggttggggt ccctgcsgcgggcgcctgggtccggcgcgggggggggg
RmPL 4-1-2	Phoma sp.	cctgatccgaggtcaaagtggaagaaggagcttcctggagagccgacctgccaatygcctagggc gcgacwgtgctgcgctcacggccggcgggtgcgggctgccactgattttgaggtgagtcgccgcg cgggggggggacaagcacccaacaccaagctgagcttgagggtttaaatgacgctcgaacaggca tgccccacggaataccgaggggcgcaatgtgcgttcaaagattcgatgattcactgaattctgca attcacactacttatcgcatttcgctgcgttcttcatcgatgccagaaccaagagatccattgtt

Appendix 1.2 ((cont.)	
		gaaagttttgattattggtatgtttttcagacaaatactgcaaactgcaaagcgtttagggggtc ctcgctggcgggcgaacccgccgaggaaacaaaaggtgctcaaagtcaagggtggtagaacgctt gcctggagtcggtgtctcctcgcaggcatcgtacttaggtaatgatccttccgaaggttcaccta cggaaaccttgttacgttttttwwmmyyycca
IRmPL 5-2	Aspergillus niger	tacctgatccgaggtcacctggaaaaatggttggaaaacgtcggcaggcgccggccaatcctaca gagcatgtgacaaagcccatacgctcgaggatcggacgcggtgccgccgctgcctttcgggccc gtccccccggagagggggacggcgacccaacacacaagccgggcttgagggcagcaatgacgctc ggacaggcatgccccccggaataccagggggggcgaatgtgcgttcaaagactcgatgattcactg aattctgcaattcacattagttatcgcatttcgctgcgttcttcatcgatgccggaaccaagaga tccattgttgaaagttttaactgattgcattcaatcaactcagactgcacgctttcagacagtgt tcgtgttggggtctccggcgggcacgggcccggggggaaaggcgcccaagg cggcgggcccgccgaagcaacagggtataatagacacggatggaggttgggcccaaaggacccg cactcggtaatgatccttccgcaggttcacctacggaacctgttttwyyttwccaa
IIRmPL 12a	Engyodontium album	acctgattcgaggtcacattcggaaggtggggtgttttacggcgtggccgcgcccgggtcccggt gcgagtggttgttactacgcagaggtcgccgcggacgggccgccactccatttcgggggccgcgt tgttagcgccgggtccccaacgccgggctccccccgaaaggggagctcgagggttgaaatgacgc tcgaacaggcatgcccgccagaattctggcgggcgcaatgtgcgttcaaagattcgatgattcac tgaattctgcaattcacattacttatcgcatttcgctgcgttcttcatcgatgccagaaccaaga gatccgttgttgaaagttttgattcatttgtatactgccttgcggccgcgggaccgcagggggtt ccgggcgccggggcgccccgcagaacatagaggtaatgtccggggcgcatgtt aaaacagaagagtttgtggcctccgcgaagcaacatagaggtaatgttcacatgggttgt aaaaccggtggcgctccgccgaagcaacatagaggtaatgttcacatgggtttgggagttgt aaaaccggtaatgatcctccgctggttcaccaacggagaccttgttaccatgggttgt
IIRmPL 3a	Purpureocillium lilacinum	cctactgatcgaggtcactctaagaaagttgggcgttttacggcgtgaccgcctccgcgctccgg tgcgaggtgtgtgctactacgcagggggggggg

Appendix 1.2 (cont.)

IRmPL 2-1	Purpurecillium lilacinum	ttcstgatcgaggtcaccggaaggagacgagccccaaagggccgcctgggggaagaccagcaccgaccg
IRmPL 2-1b	Aspergillus sclerotiorum	acctgatcgaggtcacctggagaaatgatggttgcttttcagcgtcggccagcgccgggcctacgagagcg gtgtgacaaagccccatacgctcgaggaccggagcgcggtgccgccgctgcctttcgggcccgtccccccggggg ggggacgaggacccaacacacaagccgggcttgagggcagcaatgacgctcggacaggcataccccccggaatac cagggggtgcaatgtgcgttcaaagactcgatgattcactgaattctgcaattcacattaatta
IRmPL 5	Aspergillus caelatus	cctgatccgaggtcacctggaaaaatggttgttttgcgttcggcaagcgccgggcctacagagcgggtgac aaagccccatacgctcgaggatcggacgcggtgccgccgctgcctttggggcccgtcccccccgaagaggggac gacgacccaacacacagccgtgcttgatgggcagcaatgacgctcggacaggcatgccccccggaataccaggg ggcgcaatgtgcgttcaaagactcgatgattcacggaattctgcaattcacactagttatcgcatttcgctgcgt tcttcatcgatgccggaaccaagagatccattgttgaaagttttaacwgattgcgatacaatcaactcagacttc actagatcagacgagttcgtggtgtctccggcgggcggggccgggggctgatgccccccggcggccgtaaac ggcggggcccgccgaagcaactaaggttacagtaacacgggtgggggggg

Appendix 2. ANOVA

Appendix 2.1. ANOVA of biomass produced by the Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates growing in BM with Congo Red. N=5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate.

Response 1: Biomass									
Transform: Natural Log Constant: 0.1089									
ANOVA for selected fact	orial model								
Analysis of variance ta	ble [Classical	sum o	of squares -	Type II]					
	Sum of		Mean	F	p-value				
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F				
Model	502.19	29	17.32	62.51	< 0.0001	significant			
A-Fungal Isolate	82.80	5	16.56	59.78	< 0.0001				
B-Day	255.60	4	63.90	230.65	< 0.0001				
AB	163.79	20	8.19	29.56	< 0.0001				
Pure Error	16.62	60	0.28						
Cor Total	518.82	89							

Appendix 2.2. ANOVA of decolorization percentages of Congo Red by the Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates. N=5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate.

Response 2: % Decolorization									
ANOVA for selected factorial model									
Analysis of variance table [Classical sum of squares - Type II]									
	Sum of		Mean	F	p-value				
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F				
Model	1736.57	29	59.88	347.97	< 0.0001	significant			
A-Fungal Isolate	713.31	5	142.66	828.99	< 0.0001				
B-Day	790.41	4	197.60	1148.25	< 0.0001				
AB	232.86	20	11.64	67.65	< 0.0001				
Pure Error	10.33	60	0.17						
Cor Total	1746.90	89							

Appendix 2.3. ANOVA of Congo Red concnetrations in basal media inoculated with Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates. N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate. Response 3: Concentration

Response 3: Concentration									
ANOVA for selected factorial model									
Analysis of variance table [Classical sum of squares - Type II]									
	Sum of		Mean	F	p-value				
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F				
Model	151.06	29	5.21	47.11	< 0.0001	significant			
A-Fungal Isolate	60.87	5	12.17	110.10	< 0.0001				
B-Day	58.06	4	14.52	131.28	< 0.0001				
AB	32.13	20	1.61	14.53	< 0.0001				
Pure Error	6.63	60	0.11						
Cor Total	157.69	89							

Appendix 2.4. ANOVA of Congo Red concentration in basal media inoculated with La Parguera, Lajas isolates. N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate.

Response 1: Concentration									
ANOVA for selected factorial model									
Analysis of variance table [Classical sum of squares - Type II]									
Sum of Mean F p-value									
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F				
Model	0.98	29	0.034	189.09	< 0.0001	significant			
A-Fungal Isolate	0.41	5	0.081	457.85	< 0.0001				
B-Day	0.42	4	0.11	591.90	< 0.0001				
AB	0.15	20	7.357E-003	41.34	< 0.0001				
Pure Error	0.011	60	1.780E-004						
Cor Total	0.99	89							

Appendix 2.5. ANOVA of biomass produced by La Parguera, Lajas isolates growing in BM with Congo RedN= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate.

Response 2: Biomass									
Transform:Inverse Sqrt Constant: 00701									
ANOVA for selected factorial model									
Analysis of variance table [Classical sum of squares - Type II]									
	Sum of		Mean	F	p-value				
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F				
Model	239.41	29	8.26	4310.94	< 0.0001	significant			
A-Fungal Isolate	95.67	5	19.13	9990.93	< 0.0001				
B-Day	119.11	4	29.78	15549.44	< 0.0001				
AB	24.64	20	1.23	643.25	< 0.0001				
Pure Error	0.11	60	1.915E-003						
Cor Total	239.53	89							

Appendix 2.6. ANOVA of decolorization percentages of basal media with Congo Red inoculated with La Parguera, Lajas isolates. N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate.

Response 3: Decolorization %									
Transform: Square Root Constant: 0.09951									
ANOVA for selected factorial model									
Analysis of variance table [Classical sum of squares - Type II]									
	Sum of		Mean	F	p-value				
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F				
Model	1675.51	29	57.78	335.77	< 0.0001	significant			
A-Fungal Isolate	690.01	5	138.00	802.01	< 0.0001				
B-Day	762.84	4	190.71	1108.33	< 0.0001				
AB	222.67	20	11.13	64.70	< 0.0001				
Pure Error	10.32	60	0.17						
Cor Total	1685.83	89							

Appendix 2.7. ANOVA of biomass produced by Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates growing in basal media with naphthalene. N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate.

Response 1: Biomass									
Transform: Base 10 Log Cosntant: 0.0406									
ANOVA for selected factorial model									
Analysis of variance table [Classical sum of squares - Type II]									
	Sum of		Mean	\mathbf{F}	p-value				
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F				
Model	104.32	9	11.59	49.06	< 0.0001	significant			
A-Fungal Isolate	44.62	5	8.92	37.77	< 0.0001				
B-Day	59.70	4	14.93	63.17	< 0.0001				
Residual	18.90	80	0.24						
Lack of Fit	15.21	20	0.76	12.34	< 0.0001	significant			
Pure Error	3.70	60	0.062						
Cor Total	123.22	89							

Appendix 2.8. ANOVA of naphtahlene concentration in basal media inoculated with Bahía Salinas, Cabo Rojo isolates. N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate.

Response 2: Concentration							
Transform: Square Root Constant: 0.00394852							
ANOVA for selected factorial model							
Analysis of variance table	e [Classical	sum o	f squares - T	[ype II]			
	Sum of		Mean	F	p-value		
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F		
Model	41.16	29	1.42	39.58	< 0.0001	significant	
A-Fungal Isolate	10.08	5	2.02	56.19	< 0.0001		
B-Day	22.62	4	5.65	157.66	< 0.0001		
AB	8.47	20	0.42	11.81	< 0.0001		
Pure Error	2.15	60	0.036				
Cor Total	43.32	89					

Appendix 2.9. ANOVA of naphtahlene concentration in basal media inoculated with La Parguera, Lajas isolates. N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate.

Response 1: Concentration Transform: Power Lambda: 1.68 Constant: 0 ANOVA for selected factorial model Analysis of variance table [Classical sum of squares - Type II]								
·	Sum of		Mean	F	p-value			
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F			
Model	1446.27	29	49.87	1.408E+005	< 0.0001	significant		
A-Fungal Isolate	468.25	5	93.65	2.643E+005	< 0.0001			
B-Day	761.47	4	190.37	5.373E+005	< 0.0001			
AB	216.55	20	10.83	30561.55	< 0.0001			
Pure Error	0.021	60	3.543E-004					
Cor Total	1446.29	89						

Appendix 2.10. ANOVA of biomass produced by La Parguera, Lajas isolates growing in basal media with naphthalene. N= 5, number of isolates measured for their biomass and n=3 is the number of replicates for each isolate.

Response 2: Biomass							
Transform: Square Root Constant: 0.1863							
ANOVA for selected fac	torial mode	el					
Analysis of variance table [Classical sum of squares - Type II]							
	Sum of		Mean	F	p-value		
Source	Squares	df	Square	Value	Prob > F		
Model	727.84	29	25.10	549.84	< 0.0001	significant	
A-Fungal Isolate	154.43	5	30.89	676.62	< 0.0001		
B-Day	240.33	4	60.08	1316.28	< 0.0001		
AB	333.08	20	16.65	364.85	< 0.0001		
Pure Error	2.74	60	0.046				
Cor Total	730.58	89					

Appendix 3. Enzyme activity of samples *Purpureocillium lilacinum* (RmBS 1-2b) and *Phoma* sp. (RmPL4-1-2).



Appendix 3.1. Enzyme activity and total protein concentrations of *P. lilacinum* (RmBS 1-2b). The isolate was grown in basal media with glucose (A), Congo Red (B), and naphthalene (C).



Appendix 3.2. Enzyme activity and total protein concentrations of *Phoma* sp. (RmPL 4-1-2). The isolate was grown in basal media with glucose (A), Congo Red (B), and naphthalene (C).



Appendix 3.3. LiP enzyme assay using methylene blue. The graphs show decolorization percentages of the reaction using methylene blue. *Purpurecillium lilacinum* (RmBS 1-2b) (A), and *Phoma* sp. (RmPL 4-1-2) (B).



Appendix 3.4. Standard curve to determine concentrations. The figure shows graphs of the standard curves design to determine concentration of total protein (A), Mn peroxidase (B), and laccase (C) in the supernatant.



Appendix 3.5. Standard curve of Congo Red and naphthalene. This figure shows the standard curves designed for known Congo Red (A) and naphthalene (B) concentrations.